
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 19 November 2018

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 28 NOVEMBER 2018 AT 6.00 PM

THE FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, BENSON 
LANE, WALLINGFORD, OX10 8BA

Members of the Committee:
Toby Newman (Chairman)
Anthony Dearlove (Vice-
Chairman)
Joan Bland
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Mocky Khan
Jeannette Matelot
David Nimmo-Smith
Ian Snowdon

David Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Nigel Champken-Woods
Steve Connel
John Cotton

Stefan Gawrysiak
Elizabeth Gillespie
Sue Lawson

Sue Cooper

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack



2

1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.



3

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

7 Oxford 
Brookes 
University, 
Waterperry 
Road, Holton, 
OX33 1HX  

Outline planning application, with all 
matters reserved for subsequent 
approval except details of vehicular 
access, for demolition of all existing 
structures and redevelopment of the 
site with up to 500 dwellings and 
associated works.

P17/S4254/O 5 - 40

8 180 and 182 
Fane Drive, 
Berinsfield, 
OX10 7QA  

Conversion of two takeaway units to 
two residential units.

P18/S1729/FUL 41 - 52

9 27 Benson 
Lane, 
Crowmarsh 
Gifford, OX10 
8ED  

Detached dwelling. P18/S2866/FUL 53 - 68

10 Marigay, 
Russells Water, 
RG9 6EU  

Outline application for a single storey 
3 bedroom infill dwelling on land 
adjacent to Marigay incorporating 
matters of access, layout and scale 
with matters of appearance and 
landscaping reserved.

P18/S1500/O 69 - 82

11 Chambers 
Place, Goring 
Road, near 
Woodcote, RG8 
7SJ  

Variation of Condition 2 (approved 
plans) of planning permission 
P16/S3646/FUL (proposed 
demolition of existing barns and 
stables and erection of two detached 
dwelling houses with associated 
parking and amenity space 
provision).

P18/S2940/FUL 83 - 
100



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

APPLICATION NO. P17/S4254/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 19.1.2018
PARISH HOLTON
WARD MEMBER(S) Cllr John Walsh
APPLICANT GVA on behalf of Oxford Brookes University
SITE Oxford Brookes University Waterperry Road Holton, OX33 

1HX
PROPOSAL  Outline planning application, with all matters reserved 

for subsequent approval except details of vehicular 
access, for demolition of all existing structures and 
redevelopment of the site with up to 500 dwellings and 
associated works including; 

 engineering operations, including site clearance, 
remediation, remodelling and deposition of inert fill 
material arising from demolition on site; 

 installation of new and modification of existing services 
and utilities; construction of foul and surface water 
drainage systems, including SuDS; 

 creation of noise mitigation bund and fencing;  
 creation of public open space, leisure, sport and 

recreation facilities  including equipped play areas; 
ecological mitigation works; construction of a building 
for community/sport use and associated car parking; 

 construction of internal estate roads, private drives and 
other highways infrastructure and construction of 
pedestrian footpaths.

(As amended by plans received 12 October 2018, and 
amplified by additional arboricultural, biodiversity, design 
and access information received 12 October 2018, and 
amplified by EIA addendum received 12 October 2018.

OFFICER Katherine Canavan

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to Planning Committee because the officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Holton Parish Council, and of the 
neighbouring Parish Council in Wheatley. 

1.2 The site is located north of the A40 and the built up form of Wheatley village, but is 
located within the parish of Holton. The site covers an area of 21.6ha and is owned and 
managed by Oxford Brookes University. It is made up of university buildings and sports 
facilities / playing fields and associated residential accommodation. The University has a 
longterm plan to relocate to an alternative location in Oxford city and the site will 
become redundant within the plan period. While the University continues to function 
operationally on the site, some buildings and sports facilities on-site are less frequently 
or no longer in use for educational purposes, as operations have been gradually 
relocated off-site in recent years.

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S4254/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

1.3

1.4

The site is immediately to the north of the A40, which links Headington (on the eastern
side of Oxford) with the M40 to the east of the site. The application site is approximately 
3km from the urban area of Oxford; to the north, the site is bounded by an agricultural 
field, beyond which is the village of Holton. To the east the site is bounded by 
Waterperry Road, beyond which are agricultural fields. The site is bounded to the south 
by the A40 beyond which is the settlement of Wheatley. Wheatley is classified as a 
larger village in the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy: Settlement Hierarchy, with a good 
range of facilities and amenities including convenience retail, a primary school and other 
public amenities.

To the west of the site is an education and leisure complex which comprises the
Wheatley Park Secondary School and Sixth Form, the John Watson Community School 
and the Park Sports Centre.

1.5 Area designations and site constraints:

 Oxford Green Belt - washes over the site
 Flood risk area – Flood zones 2 and 3 are located 235m south of the site and 

south of the A40, and 750m east of site. The site itself is not within a flood risk 
area and is therefore classified at Flood Zone 1.

 Listed buildings – Holton Park, Grade II listing (3 listings), and listed buildings at 
Holton Place / Church Farm, 310m north of the site

 Conservation area – Wheatley conservation area, located 200m south of the site 
and south of the A40

 Registered parks and gardens – Shotover House, located within 950m of the site 
 Scheduled Monument - Moated site (580m south west of Church Farm), on site
 Tree preservation orders – 100+ TPOs (individual trees and tree groups) on site
 Previous land use – parts of the site include land with a previous land use, which 

may give rise to risk from contaminants

Page 6



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

1.6 A Location plan of the site, as well as the proposed Indicative Plan, is attached at 
Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 Redevelopment of the Oxford Brookes Wheatley site (Outline planning application with 

all matters reserved for subsequent approval except details of vehicular access) for up to 
500 dwellings and associated works.

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at 
Appendix 2. Full copies of the plans are available for inspection on the Council’s website 
at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Consultation responses received in response to the original and revised consultations are 

summarised below. Full consultation responses are available for inspection on the 
Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

Objection:
 Principle of residential development is acceptable as long as 

it is kept to the footprint of the existing built area
 The development extends beyond previously developed 

land and is therefore inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt, contrary to the NPPF.

Holton Parish 
Council

 Some improvements to layout but previous concerns not 
addressed

 Part of the site is undeveloped land in the Green Belt – 
development should be constrained to the current built area. 

 No special reasons put forward for development in the 
Green Belt Insufficient case to demonstrate there are very 
special circumstances

 The existing quantum of sports pitches is not replaced
 Lack of car parking to serve the pavilion / community 

building
 All TPO trees should be retained
 Pressure on school capacity, particularly at the primary 

school
 Significant improvement required to walking and cycling 

routes to ensure effective integration
 Concern over CIL mechanism to offset floorspace against 

CIL contribution
 Concern over change in direction from 2012 to expand the 

site for educational purposes, in contrast to redevelopment 
for housing 

 Lack of community engagement

Wheatley Parish 
Council

Objection:
 The development would result in serious harm to the Green 

Belt
 The built area is excessive, and the scale and layout are 

inappropriate in the landscape and historic setting
 The number of dwellings is contrary to the Emerging Local 

Plan

Page 7



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

 Disproportionate impact on the small village of Holton, but 
the traffic and infrastructure impact would be felt greatest in 
Wheatley

 The proposed vehicular accesses will create highway safety 
issues and put pedestrians at risk, particularly to the school

 There are existing traffic and congestion issues, will only be 
made worse by the two access points

 Significant loss of sports pitches and facilities

 Revised plans do not alter concerns (as above)

Technical advisors:

Statutory consultees:
Environment 
Agency

Not within floodzone 2 or 3 – no requirement to consult EA

Objection:
 The development in its current form does not sufficiently 

avoid or minimise harm to designated heritage assets, or 
seek to enhance the designated assets affected.

 The eastern development will not have any greater impact 
on the scheduled monuments than the current 
development.

 Development that spreads west and north towards the 
scheduled monuments causes harm. This harm stems from 
increasing development within the setting of the 
monuments, which results in erosion of the understanding 
of the rural context.

Historic England 
(South East)

Objection:
 It is still our view that encroachment of development into the 

western part of the site causes harm to the designated 
heritage assets. The harm is less than substantial but of 
moderate impact. We also recognise that some 
improvements have been made to the scheme. 

 Both the heritage and other public benefits from the 
development would have to be shown to clearly outweigh 
any harm. 

Natural England No comment
Holding objection
 Further information required to be able to review existing 

sports facilities on-site, mitigation and proposed 
replacement facilities

Sport England

 A sports replacement / mitigation package has been drawn 
up following positive engagement with Sport England, the 
district Sports and Leisure Team and the LPA. It is essential 
these measures are deliverable and secured through a 
legal agreement.

 There is still work to be done with regards to the final 
location of the tennis and AGP as well as the operator of 
the on-site cricket and bowls, but I am confident that this 
can be dealt with through suitable mechanisms to secure 
the package for sports and leisure provision.

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

 A holding objection is maintained until the details are 
formally agreed and secured – at that stage the objection 
will be withdrawn. 

Oxfordshire County Council:
Drainage  Further details required 

 Draft conditions provided

Education  School capacity can accommodate 500 new households 
but there are concerns over further development beyond 
this number, ie future development elsewhere in Wheatley 
[NB. The development will generate a CIL contribution 
towards infrastructure, which can be used to fund future 
education and health care needs]

Infrastructure  The CIL Regulation 123 list is yet to be updated to reflect 
the emerging Local Plan allocations, and the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan needs amending

 Details on s106 requirements provided

Objection: 
 Additional modelling and transport information required
 Series of connected off-site walking and cycling 

improvements required to mitigate the impact of this 
development

 A residential travel plan will be required
 Further discussions advised on bus route provision
 Draft conditions provided

Highways

Objection: 
 Additional modelling and transport information provided
 The series of off-site walking and cycling improvements 

remain a key requirement for connectivity and integration, 
but are yet to be formally agreed

 Further details to demonstrate bus turning within the site, 
and effective operate during phase 1

South Oxfordshire District Council:
Air Quality Officer  No objection in principle, subject to conditions and 

implementation of measures set out in the Environmental 
Statement

Contaminated 
Land Officer

 No objection in principle, subject to conditions 
(comprehensive investigation, remediation and validation 
report confirming compliance)

Drainage Engineer  No objection, subject to conditions (Foul water, surface 
water and SuDs)

 The outlet route and destination of the private foul sewer 
draining the existing site to Old London Road in Wheatley 
to the south will need to be established. 

 Given the apparent preponderance of 'combined sewers' on 
the site (where rainwater is 'combined' with foul drainage), 

Page 9



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

the removal of such by the redevelopment will be a 
significant gain.

 Ground investigations / permeability testing will be required 
as a basis for the SuDs design

Environmental 
Health Officer  

 No objection in principle
 Careful consideration required to noise during 

demolition/construction, air quality due to construction site 
dust and traffc noise from the nearby A40 affecting the 
future residents of the development – to be managed by 
condition

Housing 
Development

 40% affordable housing required on-site: 200 affordable 
homes

 It is preferable for the majority, if not all of the two bedroom 
properties to be delivered as houses rather than flats as 
houses are considered more suitable for families needing 
rented accommodation and Registered Providers have 
advised that houses are more appropriate for shared 
ownership.

 The policy position remains as 40%, however a Vacant 
Building Credit case is being considered – verbal update to 
be provided at Planning Committee. 

 Further information has recently been received to clarify 
which buildings are occupied on-site and when certain 
buildings were vacated to facilitate this review.

Landscape 
Architect

 There would not be significant effects on the landscape or 
on visual receptors as the site has already been developed 
and has a significant detractor in the 35-metre tall tower 
block.

 The proposed homes in the south west part of the site 
would result in a minor impact to the landscape character 
and visual quality of that area of the site.

 The western extension is acceptable provided the impact 
on existing significant trees and habitats is avoided and the 
small woodlands are protected during demolition and 
construction.

 The development on the eastern part of the site represents 
an overall improvement to the landscape and visual 
character of the site over the 2012 Oxford Brookes 
University Wheatley Masterplan Supplementary Planning 
Document

 No strong views, subject to conditions and a robust 
landscaping scheme

Oxfordshire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group

 The development will increase pressure on services at 
Morland House Practice, and would welcome developer 
funding to support expansion / reconfiguration of facilities
[NB. The development will generate a CIL contribution 
towards infrastructure, which can be used to fund future 
education and health care needs]

Planning Policy 
Team

 The Emerging Local Plan Policy STRAT10 allocates the 
site ‘for at least‘ 300 homes. Evidence is required to 
demonstrate the appropriateness of exceeding this figure, 
the spread across the site and impact on the openness, and 
the setting of the listed building / schedule of monument.

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

 The policy requires replacement of the quantum of sports 
pitches, and some provision of retail facilities. Further 
details required.

SGN Plant 
Protection Team

 Standard guidance provided

Sports and Leisure 
Team

 A series of on and off-site sports provision will be required 
as mitigation and replacement for the loss of pitches from 
the university site

 Without these measures an objection will be raised – the 
measures have been worked up with the applicant but are 
yet to be formally agreed

Thames Water 
Development 
Control

 Further information required – condition recommended if 
application is approved

 Concern raised over capacity of water infrastructure
[NB. Thames Water as the statutory undertaker are 
required to address capacity for new development separate 
from Planning Legislation]

Urban Design 
Officer  

 Further details required to demonstrate that urban design 
matters have been addressed – in the form of a detailed 
site layout plan, site sections and visual examples of 
general house types

 Additional information provided and revisions incorporated 
into illustrative layout, and followed up in design meeting

 No objection
Waste 
Management 
Officer

 Further details required at RM stage
 Standard guidance provided

Neighbour representations are summarised as follows:

Green Belt  Insufficient justification to build on undeveloped Green Belt 
land

 The development will have an unacceptable visual impact on 
the open nature of the Green Belt.

 The development should be constrained to the eastern 
section, replacing the existing buildings only

Character, scale 
and setting

 500 houses will significantly change the character 
 Proposal for four storey dwellings are completely out of 

character with the neighbouring villages
 Scale of development is excessive – the emerging local plan 

suggests 300, not 500

Heritage and 
conservation

 Development at this elevated end of the site will compromise 
the parkland setting of the listed building 

Traffic and 
congestion

 Roads are already too congested, resulting in a displacement 
of traffic through Holton (creation of rat-runs etc). This would 
result in further congestion and risk to highway safety as 
there is a lack of pedestrian footpaths/pavements. 

 Access roads are unlikely to be able to cope with the 
increased traffic - the centre of the village of Wheatley is 

Page 11



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

extremely congested already, and parking is already an issue 
in Wheatley 

Connectivity and 
integration

 The proposal has made no attempt to integrate Holton and 
Wheatley, despite the fact that the future residents will be 
using Wheatley for daily errands. 

 Lack of infrastructure to support a development of such a 
scale

 Facilities are too far from the site, meaning residents will be 
dependent on cars to drive into Wheatley and use services

 There should be a footbridge over the A40 

Services, facilities 
and infrastructure

 GP/ other services will struggle to meet needs of more 
households

 There are no additional services (shops, pubs etc) being 
provided and these would need to be created to serve the 
extra residents. 

 Insufficient parking proposed to serve the new sports 
facilities and pavilion

Sports provision  Lack of information on who will provide and maintain the 
proposed onsite re-provision of sporting facilities

 The removal of sports facilities is unacceptable
 Compatibility of proposed facilities with existing pitches

Additional matters  Security of school site, in light of proposed western access
 Loss of important trees which were planted by the community
 Risk of harm to protected species
 This proposal only benefits Brookes and not any of the local 

residents
 Even with amenity space, the wildlife will be diminished and 

will suffer

Comments received in support of the proposal:

 Building on a previously developed site is supported, over greenfield development, 
subject to the relevant infrastructure being provided. 

 Affordable housing is needed and being provided as part of the proposal; thereby 
meeting the housing needs of young people and providing local families the 
opportunity to stay in the village. 

 The buildings are in poor repair, and housing is needed in the local area
 It is closer to city than other proposed sites, as well as facilities such as the 

hospital, employment and leisure
 Oxford Brookes are already planning to relocate, so if the site isn’t developed it 

would leave a vacant site as an eyesore.
 The location is close to good services and the site has easy access to the 

A40/M40 and the Oxford park and ride
 The development is located close to Wheatley and will therefore support the local 

economy, business and trade

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 Application history
4.1i The application was formally registered January 2018 and a public consultation was 

carried out, concluding in February. At this stage a number of objections on technical 
grounds had been raised by consultees, specifically from heritage, sports / leisure, 
urban design, trees and highways advisors. 

4.1ii Between February and the consultation on revised plans in October, a series of 
meetings were held with the applicant and their technical consultants to work through 
the outstanding issues, to gather further technical information and modelling, and to 
review further revisions to the scheme, as recommended by the council’s technical 
officers. Work has also been ongoing to draw up the contributions and mitigation to be 
secured by legal agreement, specifically sports / leisure provision, highways and 
footpath links, and affordable housing provision. In addition, an addendum to the 
Environmental Statement was prepared to review the environmental impact arising 
from the changes (see section 6.11). Having regard to the revisions to the scheme, 
and mitigation to be delivered as part of the development, your officers consider the 
previous concerns have been addressed, and recommend the outline application is 
granted permission.

4.1iii Following the conclusion of the public consultation, it is noted that Holton Parish 
Council, and the neighbouring parish of Wheatley, maintain their objections about the 
development and for this reason the application is being presented to Planning 
Committee.    

4.2 Site history
A selection of the recent developments on the site is summarised below. A full history 
is available for inspection on the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

P16/S4162/FUL - Approved (27/01/2017)
The development consists of single storey portable kitchens linked together to form a 
small scale temporary catering complex - linked to the existing kitchen on the Wheatley 
Campus.

P16/S1586/T28 - Approved (09/06/2016)
Upgrade existing telecommunications installation installations at this location.

P11/W1227 - Approved (28/02/2012)
Provision of new access to serve Wheatley Park School and Oxford Brookes 
University. New coach park for Wheatley Park School. Redistribution of existing car 
parking for Wheatley Park School & Oxford Brookes University with no net increase 
(515 spaces for Oxford Brookes University & 95 replacement spaces at Wheatley Park 
School). New landscaping and ancillary works (As amplified by plans accompanying 
email from agent dated 6 January 2012).

P10/W0703 - Approved (28/07/2010)
Extension to engineering department.

P10/W0212/CC - Approved (16/07/2010)
Relocation of an existing modular classroom for temporary period of 3 years

P05/W1186 - Approved (08/03/2006)
Demolition of single storey teaching building.  Erection of two storey building for a new 
centre for excellence in teaching and learning.  (As amended by plans accompanying 

Page 13

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4162/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1586/T28
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P11/W1227
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/W0703
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/W0212/CC
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P05/W1186


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

letter from Agent dated 24 January 2006 and amplified by letter from GSS Architecture 
dated 3 February 2006).

P05/W0623 - Approved (29/07/2005)
Balancing pond in connection with the new School of Technology building. (Approved 
under application ref P04/W1380)

P04/W1380 - Approved (23/02/2005)
Erection of a two storey building to accommodate The School of Technology including 
additional car parking.

P03/N0326/O - Approved (13/10/2004)
Erection of two storey building to accommodate The School of Engineering, including 
additional car parking.

P04/W0003 - Approved (26/02/2004)
Construction of post graduate lecture theatre and teaching centre with a first floor link 
to existing western building. New fire engine access road with associated hard 
standings and soft landscaping.

P02/N0522 - Approved (03/09/2002)
Conversion of existing roof space to living accommodation to include dormer windows 
as amended by drawing no. 0240/P03A accompanying agents letter dated 15 August 
2002.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies 2027 (Adopted 2012) 

CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 - The overall strategy
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSM1 - Transport
CSM2 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSEM5 - Redevelopment of Oxford Brookes University
CSH2 - Density
CSH3 - Affordable Housing
CSH4 - Meeting housing needs
CSEN1 - Landscape
CSEN2 - Green Belt
CSEN3 - Historic environment
CSQ2 - Sustainable Design and Construction
CSQ3 -  Design
CSG1 - Green infrastructure
CSB1 - Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSH1 - Amount and distribution of housing
CSR3 -  Loss of community facilities
CSI1 - Infrastructure provision

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan policies (2011)

G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
C4 - Safeguarding the landscaping setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species

Page 14

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P05/W0623
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P04/W1380
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P03/N0326/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P04/W0003
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/N0522


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

C9 - Loss of landscape features
GB4 - Visual amenity of the Green Belt
CON5 - Setting of a listed building
CON12 - Archaeological recording
CON15 - Registered Parks and Gardens
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2 - Noise and vibrations
EP3 - Floodlighting
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP7  -  Impact on ground water resources
EP8 - Contaminated land
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D5 - Compatible mix of land uses
D6  -  Community safety
D7 - Access to public buildings
D10 - Waste management
D12 - Public art contribution
H4 - Housing in towns and villages
R2  -  Provision of play areas on new housing development
R4 - Outdoor sports provision in the countryside
R6  -  Public open space in new residential development
R7 - Facilities to support recreational use
R8 - Retention and protection of Public Rights of Way
CF1 - Loss of recreation or community facility
CF2 - Additional community facilities or services
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
T7 - Improvements and extension of footpaths and cycle network
RUR1 - Limited infilling at Oxford Brookes University
SOLP, Appendix 5 - Parking and cycle standards

5.3 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan

The partially previously developed site at OBU Wheatley has been identified as a 
strategic allocation, policy STRAT10, in the emerging Local Plan in a number of its 
iterations. It was included in the last published version of the Local Plan as an 
allocation for residential development with supporting infrastructure and services.  

In October 2017 the Council undertook a formal publication consultation (Regulation 
19) on the Emerging Local Plan and had proposed to submit the Plan for examination. 
Following the receipt of information relating to one of the other strategic allocation 
proposed (not this site) in May 2018 the Council decided to re-examine the strategic 
allocations within the proposed plan and is currently preparing a revised publication 
version (Regulation 19) of the plan. The Council published its Local Development 
Scheme in August 2018 which confirms we intend to consult on a second Publication 
plan in January 2019 and submit the plan to the Planning Inspectorate in March 2019.  

Although the plan is at an advanced stage of preparation, it still has significant 
progress to make through the plan-making process; namely the examination in public. 
This can be a lengthy process and could result in an inspector making significant 
changes to the plan as currently drafted. Consequently, in accordance with paragraph 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

48 of the NPPF, the weight we can attribute to the emerging plan at this stage is 
limited. In considering the weight afforded to the Emerging Local Plan, the planning 
officer has had regard to the October 2017 version, which has been through the 
Regulation 19 public consultation and which identifies the site as being suitable for 
residential development.

Notwithstanding the above, the site is partially previously developed land in the Green 
Belt and, whilst the principle of redevelopment is acceptable, the inclusion of a specific 
site allocation was to plan positively for the site.

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (2016)

5.5 Neighbourhood Development Plan

The area for the Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan was designated in March 2016, and 
work is ongoing to draw up the local policies and allocations for Wheatley. The plan is 
yet to be formally submitted to the council and examined. 

The emerging neighbourhood plan details community aspirations for the Oxford 
Brookes site, particularly regarding the integration of any proposal in this site with the 
wider village. Whilst the current proposal does not address all of the aspirations 
detailed in the emerging neighbourhood plan, the neighbourhood plan has not yet 
reached a stage where it can be given significant weight in the determination of this 
application. The neighbourhood plan has also not reached a sufficiently advanced 
stage where prematurity issues can be considered. 

It should also be noted that while the eastern part of the site falls within the Wheatley 
Neighbourhood Plan area, the western edge falls outside this. The site itself is located 
within Holton Parish. 

Red line – Application site boundary          
Blue line – Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan designation area
Pink line (A40) – Parish boundary: Wheatley to the south; Holton to the north

5.6 National Planning Policy Framework - Revised July 2018 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

5.7 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Section 66 
Section 72

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The key planning considerations in determining the application are:

 Principle of residential development 
 Development in the Green Belt
 Connectivity and integration
 Historic setting and heritage assets
 Landscaping and tree retention
 Environmental impact and residential amenity
 Housing mix and affordable housing
 Sports and leisure provision
 Financial contributions and legal agreements
 Environmental Impact Assessment

6.2 Principle of residential development

Policy CSS1 of the SOCS sets out an overall strategy for the district, which seeks, among 
other things, to support and enhance the larger villages as local service centres, while 
focusing major development at Didcot and the market towns.

The development site at Oxford Brookes campus (Wheatley) is located outside the built limits 
of Wheatley (larger village) and Holton (smaller village), where large-scale development 
would not normally be appropriate. However, policy CSEN2 of the SOCS recognises Oxford 
Brookes University campus as being a key previously developed site in the Green Belt, and 
Policy CSEM5 sets out that proposals for the redevelopment of Oxford Brookes University 
Campus will be supported, with the focus being skills development and expansion of suitable 
education and training facilities.  

With regards to the Emerging Local Plan, the Council ran a publication consultation 
(Regulation 19) on the Emerging Local Plan in October 2017. At this stage it was recognised 
that:

 the Wheatley campus site is a partially developed site in the Green belt 
 the existing use is relocating to an alternative location in Oxford city and the site will 

become redundant within the plan period 
 the redevelopment of the site will provide residential development and help meet the 

housing needs identified
 there is an opportunity to plan positively for its future use.

 
‘Oxford Brookes University intended to relocate the existing uses at the Wheatley campus to 
the Headington campus, which would leave a vacant, previously developed site in the Green 
belt. The surrounding uses are predominantly residential and there is some scope to develop 
part of the site for residential development.’

‘The principle of redeveloping previously developed sites is set out in national policy. 
Proposals for redevelopment should not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt than the existing development.’

That being said, in May 2018 the Council decided to re-examine the strategic allocations 
within the proposed plan and is currently preparing a revised publication version (regulation 
19) of the plan.

Page 17



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

Although the plan is at an advanced stage of preparation, it still has significant progress to 
make through the plan-making process; namely the examination in public. While the weight 
we can attribute to the emerging plan at this stage is limited, the consultation responses 
received as part of formal consultations play an important role in indicating the robustness of 
emerging policies. 

The principle of redevelopment of the site as residential has been considered publicly 
through consultation and most respondents were generally supportive of the redevelopment 
of the site. Respondents did however raise concerns over capacity. The site is recognised as 
an important, partially previously developed site in the Green Belt. For this reason, there is 
scope to consider a planning application for residential development on the site without 
conflicting with the principle of development. However, the proposal must conform with 
national and Development Plan policies, specifically Green Belt policy, and respond 
positively to the site constraints and characteristics of the surrounding area. These matters 
are assessed in greater detail within the report.

6.3 Development in the Green Belt

6.3i Green Belt Policy

The site lies within the Oxford Green Belt. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to 
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of 
Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. As a general rule, development in the 
Green Belt is normally considered to be inappropriate from the outset unless very special 
circumstances exist to override the presumption against such development. 

When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that 
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will 
not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any 
other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

The revised National Planning Policy Framework states that such very special circumstances 
may include limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land. Paragraph 145 of the revised NPPF clarifies that development in the Green Belt, on 
previously developed land, may be acceptable where it would:

 not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or 

 not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the 
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an 
identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority.

This is also drawn through to policy GB4 of the SOLP, which sets out that: 
‘where new development is permitted, either within or where it would be conspicuous from 
the Green Belt, it should be designed and sited in such a way that its impact on the open 
nature, rural character and visual amenity of the Green Belt is minimised.’

6.3ii Assessment of impact on the openness of the Green Belt

In assessing the impact of the proposal a complex balancing exercise is required to ensure 
the impact on the openness of Green Belt does not constitute significant harm, and that the 
scheme represents minimal visual impact in comparison to the existing development. 

The proposal to extend further across the site also needs to be considered alongside any 
benefits arising from the improvement to openness associated with the lower building 
heights, looser grain and increased spacing between the dwellings. In summary, the impact 

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

of a spread of development on this sensitive site requires careful assessment as to whether 
there is any more harm to the Green Belt than already exists on the site.

The plans below show the existing built form (below left) and proposed built form (below 
right):

The current development is characterised as being tightly clustered on the eastern side, with 
outer-lying buildings, hardstanding, car parks and sports pitches sited beyond the buildings. 
The site also includes a number of 4/5 storey teaching blocks and a 10-storey tower block, 
which are visually prominent and visible from a great distance beyond the site. The current 
development has a significant impact on the openness of the Green Belt, particularly from the 
clustered area and the scale of the existing buildings. This impact is based on an established 
volume of built form, heights and spread across the site, but also takes into account the 
visual impact of the buildings on the setting of the Green Belt.
 
The applicant has submitted volume calculations to demonstrate that the existing 
development on-site equates to 125,500 cubic metres. While a precise volume calculation of 
the proposed buildings is not available at outline stage, the modelling for a SHMA compliant 
residential development of 550 dwellings (as shown in the modelling exercise included in the 
applicant’s Planning Statement, rather than 500 as proposed) demonstrates that the volume 
is comparable, if not lower than existing. In practical terms, this translates as reconfiguring 
the existing 2/4/5 storey teaching blocks and 10-storey tower and replacing them with 2-
storey dwellings on the western part of the site and 2/3/4 storey blocks on the eastern part of 
the site. On this element alone, the volume of built development would be lower than 
existing.    

6.3iii Volume dispersal

The proposal would result in a wider spread of built form across the site, comprising a higher 
density development on the previously developed area, and lower density on the western 
part of the site. As originally proposed, officers raised concerns about the impact on the 
Green Belt because of the high density of development on the western side and the 
encroachment to the north of the access road (running through the site from the western 
edge). Following revisions to the scheme, the development on the western part of the site 
has been pulled back to below the access road, the layout incorporates green corridors with 
visibility through the site, and the buildings are no higher than two-storey. 
   
Although the development still extends westwards, the combination of the lower building 
heights, looser grain, no greater building volume (site-wide) than the existing development, 
and increased spacing between the dwellings, ensures the development would have less of 
an impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing built form on-site. The 

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

replacement buildings would be less prominent and smaller in scale than those previously 
associated with the education blocks. The impact on openness and the setting of the Green 
Belt would be less because of the ‘flattening and dispersal across the site’ achieved through 
the revised layout. 

In its revised form, officers consider that the development conforms with policy GB4 of the 
SOLP in that it is ‘designed and sited in such a way that its impact on the open nature, rural 
character and visual amenity of the Green Belt is minimised’.

6.3iv Very special circumstances

In referring to Paragraph 145 of the revised NPPF and the requirement to demonstrate ‘very 
special circumstances’, the following elements of the proposal demonstrate public benefit to 
a sufficient level to offset any residual harm to the openness of the Green Belt:

 The site constitutes previously developed land, which is available for redevelopment 
because the University’s long-term business strategy is to consolidate its facilities 
away from the Wheatley site. This site is therefore a more appropriate development 
location than other greenfield land within the Green Belt.

 The existing 10-storey tower is highly prominent, and the removal of the building 
would result in an improvement to the openness and visual quality of the setting to the 
Green Belt.

 The redevelopment of the site will provide residential development and help meet the 
housing needs identified across the district. Subject to the outcome of the vacant 
building credit review, the proposal would deliver 40% affordable housing, amounting 
to 200 affordable units across the site, thereby contributing towards an identified 
affordable housing need. 

In accordance with paragraph 145 of the Revised NPPF, the proposal would not have any 
greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than existing development. The level of 
development and spread across the site would not cause ‘substantial harm’ to openness and 
would contribute to ‘meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local 
planning authority’. There are public benefits delivered by the proposal that would amount to 
very special circumstances for development in the Green Belt.

6.4 Connectivity and integration
6.4i Paragraph 92 of the revised NPPF sets out the importance of providing social, recreational 

and cultural facilities and services to meet community needs; as well as,  planning positively 
for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities (such as local shops, 
meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of 
worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential 
environments.

Paragraph 102 sets out that transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of 
development proposals so that opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport 
use are identified and pursued, and this is reinforced in paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
Framework: 

a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be - or have 
been - taken up, given the type of development and its location; 
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and 
c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of 
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to 
an acceptable degree. 

Applications for development should: 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and 
with neighbouring areas; 

6.4ii The development site is located to the north of the A40 in Holton Parish. The site is currently 
connected by road to Wheatley by the Holloway bridge (west) and the A40 underpass (east). 
The key facilities and services within Wheatley and Holton include Wheatley Park School and 
the Park Sports Centre (north-west), Wheatley Primary school, John Watson School and 
nursery (west), and Wheatley High Street (central), and employment sites / Asda superstore 
(east).

Given the relationship between the site, the A40 and Wheatley village, there is a need for 
careful consideration to be given to creating strong links to services, improving walking 
routes and creating a new sustainable community; not only to avoid the sense of detachment 
from the rest of the village, but also to provide walking and cycling routes that are attractive, 
connected and useable, thereby reducing reliance on private transport. 

In its current use as a university campus there is only a low level dependence on local 
services, there are limited numbers of people residing on the site, and a self-containment that 
is appropriate to the use. The introduction of 500 households on the site would significantly 
change the nature of the use, requiring much improved connectivity and integration with 
Wheatley and Holton, and increasing the footfall on existing walking routes. There would be a 
greater reliance on services in Wheatley, primarily to the west and east. While the footways 
already exist, there are poor connections along the route, for example, narrow pavements 
which will be under greater pressure with increased usage, and a lack of dropped kerbs at 
key points interrupting a ‘continuous route’ and compromising highway safety.   

6.4iii For these reasons, and with a specific focus on improving links to the west and east, 
Oxfordshire County Council highways officers, as the highways authority, require a package 
of pedestrian links and highways improvements, set out in section 6.10i of the report and the 
Appendices.

The works required are as a direct result of the development being proposed, the scale of the 
development, its change in use, and the need for improved connectivity to key services and 
facilities. The works in isolation are relatively small-scale, but as a package would help to 
provide connected and usable walking and cycling routes, and reduce footfall-pressure 
generated by the development. 

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

None of the works constitute strategic highways or transport projects, which may otherwise 
be captured under the CIL contributions generated by the site. In all cases, the works 
constitute ‘site specific transport infrastructure including works necessary for vehicle, cycle 
and pedestrian access and public transport on or adjacent to the site as a result of 
development, including mitigation works remote from the development site where the need 
for such works is identified in a Transport Assessment.’ As set out in the South Oxfordshire 
CIL Reg 123 list, these types of works are to be secured through a S106 or S278 agreement 
or conditions.

6.4iv Public transport

6.5 The University is currently served by the U1 and U5 BROOKES bus service, which enters the 
site. There is a bus turnaround facility towards the eastern end of the site, which allows 
buses from Oxford to access the site from Waterperry Road, to lay-over and then return to 
Oxford as scheduled. 

Paragraph 110 of the revised NPPF highlights that development should: 
‘give priority […] - so far as possible - to facilitating access to high quality public transport, 
with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other public transport services, and 
appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use’

The County highways officers have highlighted the importance of designing in measures to 
allow a bus to enter the site to provide alternative means of transport, to provide sustainable 
links to services and employment, and to serve the needs of less mobile households. To 
ensure this is a viable and achievable route for service providers, the internal design should 
facilitate buses terminating from both the west (from Holloway Road) or from the east (from 
Waterperry Road), in addition to permitting a ‘through’ bus route from east to west, and vice 
versa. In addition, there should also be provision for buses to turn within the site, either as a 
turning loop, or to use secondary road as a bus loop – this may require temporary 
arrangements as various phases of development are completed.

While the detail of the bus routes has not been provided at outline stage, access points (east 
and west of the site) form part of the outline matters, and an illustrative layout has been 
provided to show that secondary routes could be accommodated within the site to allow a 
bus to turnaround. On this basis, sufficient information has been provided to demonstrate 
public transport links can be provided into and through the site, and even if minor highways 
revisions are required at detailed stage, there is space on-site to secure a public transport 
scheme.   

6.6 Historic setting and heritage assets
Holton Park house (now school) and moat is classified as a Grade II listed building, located 
close to the boundary of the development site. While there are no listed buildings on-site, the 
application site formed the enclosed deer park to Holton Park from the 12th century onwards, 
with some landscape features remaining legible on the site and further to the south. There is 
also a small earthwork within the site (the SAM) which is all that remains of historic built form 
within the application area, although evidence of medieval agricultural use of the site in the 
form of ridge and furrow has been identified using aerial photography and LIDAR. 

All other construction is C20 in date and consists of sports fields and courts, areas of 
hardstanding for roadways and parking, cottages associated with the military use of the site 
and university buildings dating from the 1960s onwards.

The revised Framework sets out that:
Paragraph 193. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and 

Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of 
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial 
harm to its significance.  

196. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

This is drawn through to the Development Plan. Policy CON5 of the SOLP states that: 
Proposals for development which would adversely affect the setting of a listed building will be 
refused.

Chapter 12 of the submitted Environmental Statement and the supporting built heritage 
report acknowledge that the open areas of the site contribute significantly to the setting of 
designated heritage assets, particularly Holton Park, and to the open character of the existing 
site which is a key element of the Grade II listed building’s historic setting.

In order to respond positively to the important heritage setting, the proposed dwellings have 
been moved south of the track, with tree planting introduced that reinforces the retained 
historic planting and the former parkland planting of the site. The proposal has reduced the 
density of development to the west of the site which goes someway to preserving the historic 
parkland setting of Holton Park and the scheduled monuments and mitigating part of the 
impact. 

Historic England and the Conservation Officer have concerns that there will still be a 
considerable compromise to the historic relationship of Holton Park with its former deer park, 
and an erosion of the understanding of the rural context of the Scheduled Monument. Both 
officers consider the harm to be less than substantial but of moderate impact, but also 
recognise that some improvements have been made to the scheme since the original 
application. In applying the heritage test set out in paragraphs 193 to 196 of the NPPF, this 
level of harm would be ‘less than substantial’. The heritage and other public benefits from the 
development would have to be shown to clearly outweigh any harm.

In assessing the overall impact on the heritage assets on the site, and on adjacent land, the 
planning officer acknowledges that although there would be some harm because of change 
in character to the western part of the site, the retained open space, landscaping and tree 
scheme, loosening of density through revised plans, removal of tennis courts and car park, 
and the introduction of visual corridors through to the listed building, contribute positively to 
retaining the historic setting. These measures would retain the parkland character that is so 
significant to the setting of the listed building and scheduled monument, and retain a buffer 
area to allow for a better understanding of the setting of the heritage assets and their 
heritage significance. 

The public benefits set out in section 6.3iv in relation to Green Belt considerations, are also 
relevant to outweighing the ‘less than substantial’ harm in heritage terms:

 The site constitutes previously developed land, which is available for redevelopment 
because the University’s long-term business strategy is to consolidate its facilities 
away from the Wheatley site. This site is therefore a more appropriate development 
location than other greenfield land located close to areas of heritage importance.

 The existing 10-storey tower is highly prominent, and the removal of the building 
would result in an improvement to the setting of the listed building, parkland setting 
and scheduled monument.

 The redevelopment of the site will provide residential development and help meet the 
housing needs identified across the district. Subject to the outcome of the vacant 
building credit review, the proposal would deliver 40% affordable housing, amounting 

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

to 200 affordable units across the site, thereby contributing towards an identified 
affordable housing need.

For these reasons, and having had careful regard to the ‘less than substantial’ harm, there 
are insufficient grounds to insist on further revisions, a larger retention of open space or a 
reduction in unit numbers, on heritage grounds. The location of the residential development 
(particularly on the western edge), by virtue of the revised layout, would not adversely affect 
the historic significance to a degree that would warrant refusal, and would not conflict with 
the Framework or Development Plan in terms of heritage and conservation policy. 

6.7 Landscaping and tree retention

Policy C9 of the SOLP plan states that:
Any development that would cause the loss of landscape features will not be permitted where 
those features make an important contribution to the local scene, and/or provide all or part of 
an important wildlife habitat and/or have important historical value.  Where features are 
retained within the development site, conditions will be used to ensure that they are protected 
during development and have sufficient space to ensure their survival after development.

The vast majority of the trees and tree groups within this site are protected by a tree 
preservation order and collectively form a dominant feature of the site. The original layout 
resulted in a considerable number of trees of landscape value being removed from the site. 

Further to advice from the Tree Officer, a series of updated tree surveys and information has 
been provided, to retain a greater proportion of the trees of particular note, and to underpin 
the revised illustrative layout. The amended illustrative layout presents an improvement on 
the previous scheme. 

In addition, a condition will be required to incorporate a suitable replacement planting 
scheme into the new development, and a landscape management strategy and 
comprehensive landscaping scheme. This will need to include a robust replanting / mitigation 
scheme, as well as tree protection measures, to offset the tree loss across the site, to deliver 
a sympathetic landscaping scheme as currently experienced on the site and to provide an 
integrated settlement boundary on the edge of Wheatley. 

6.8 Environmental impact and residential amenity

Policies EP1 – EP8 of the SOLP are concerned with the management of environmental 
factors and the safeguarding of the amenity of nearby occupants. Specific considerations 
include impact as a result of the development, or the construction process, which give rise to: 
noise, air quality, light spill, dust, odour or risk of contamination, or require careful 
management of surface / foul water.

The illustrative site layout indicates a bund and noise mitigation fencing along the southern 
edge of the site and the A40, to safeguard the amenity of dwellings closest to this part of the 
site. There is sufficient space for a bund to be accommodated on-site, subject to the detail 
being provided at detailed stage. In addition, a noise mitigation strategy will be required for 
the site, to set out the measures and design features to be incorporated into the development 
– to be secured by condition.  

6.9 Housing mix and affordable housing

6.9i The revised NPPF requires schemes with a net gain of 10 or more homes to provide 40% of 
the total number of dwellings on the site as affordable housing. For a site of 500 units this 

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

would equate to 200 affordable homes of which 75% (150) should be for rent and 25% (50) 
should be for shared ownership.

In general, it is anticipated that the mix of affordable housing should reflect the significant 
demand for two-bedroom units for both rented and shared ownership tenures with a 
reduction in one-bedroom accommodation and an adjustment to the number of larger homes. 
 
The table below sets out a mix for 200 affordable housing units across both Affordable Rent 
and Shared Ownership. Based on indicative plans submitted by the applicant, the level of 
affordable housing and mix can be accommodated on the site. Further detail will be required 
at the reserved matters stage to demonstrate the affordable housing can be provided within 
an appropriate layout across the site, and in a manner that avoids clustering.

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed (5 
person)

3 bed (6 
person)

4 bed (6 
person)

Total

Affordable 20 84 30 12 4 150
Shared 35 15 50
Market housing 300 units - in conformity with SHMA mix 300

500

6.9ii Vacant Building Credit
To incentivise development of brownfield sites containing vacant buildings, the Vacant 
Building Credit (VBC) was introduced by the Government in 2014 and is included in the 
recently updated NPPF which states “To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant 
buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should 
be reduced by a proportionate amount”.

When considering how to apply the VBC local planning authorities should have regard to the 
intention of national policy and in doing so, it may be appropriate for them to consider 
whether: 

 the building is not in use at the time the application is submitted;
 the building is not protected for alternative land use;
 the building has been made vacant for the sole purposes of re-development; and 
 the building is covered by an extant or recently expired planning permission for the 

same or substantially the same development. 

In respect of this particular submission, the Strategy and Development Officer has scrutinised 
the case put forward by the applicant and negotiations are ongoing to establish whether the 
proposal is eligible for a reduction in affordable housing through the Vacant Building Credit 
Route; and if so, to what degree the 40% provision would be reduced (in accordance with the 
VBC criteria). 

The finalised affordable housing figures and mix will be reported as a verbal update at 
Planning Committee on 28 November 2018. 

6.10 Sports and leisure provision
6.10i Paragraph 97 of the revised NPPF clearly indicates that:

Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, 
should not be built on unless: 

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.

Policy CF1 of the SOLP states that: 
‘Proposals that result in the loss of a recreation facility or an essential community facility or 
service, through change of use or redevelopment, will not be permitted unless:
(i) suitable alternative provision is made for the facility (or similar facilities of equivalent 
community value) on a site elsewhere in the locality, or
(ii) in the case of recreational facilities, it is not needed, […]’

In addition, the South Oxfordshire Playing Pitch Strategy (February 2018) shows that all 
currently used playing field sites require protection and therefore cannot be deemed surplus 
to requirements because of shortfalls now or in the future.  

6.10ii The Sports and Leisure team have reviewed the current facilities on-site and provided a 
sports needs assessment for the Oxford Brookes site in the context of district sports 
provision, as well as carrying out consultation with local sports providers and clubs. 

The following facilities exist on the Wheatley University site: 
 3 full size football pitches 
 8 outdoor tennis courts 
 1 cricket pitch  
 2 five-a-side AGP football pitches 
 1 Lacrosse pitch 
 1 American football pitch 
 1 sports pavilion

The Sports Facility Calculator (SFC), developed by Sport England, has been used to quantify 
how much additional demand for the key community sports facilities (swimming pools, sports 
halls, indoor bowls and artificial grass pitches) is generated because of new growth, linked to 
specific development locations.

6.10iii Having regard to the proposal, there is space on-site to compensate for the loss of some 
pitches by providing: a flat green bowls lawn, cricket pitch, running route and pavilion.  In 
addition, and as mitigation for the loss of existing pitches, contributions have been secured to 
deliver off-site provision for the following facilities: Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP), tennis courts 
and 2-year sports development post directly connected with sports facilities provided through 
the development, and to facilitate integration and growth of clubs using the facilities. The 
facilities will also be accompanied by ten year maintenance and sinking fund contributions 
(based on Sport England Facility Costs), and all contributions will be index linked.

6.10iv The requirements are all directly associated will the redevelopment of the site, and the 
preferred option would be for direct replacement on-site. As this is not compatible given the 
space available on-site, an agreement has been reached to deliver a mix of on-site and off-
site facilities to account for the full level of mitigation. This accords with policies CSI1 and 
CSR3 of the SOCS policy, and policies CF1 and R7 of the SOLP, as without these off-site 
replacement facilities, there would be a significant loss of essential recreation facilities in the 
local area. The on-site and off-site mitigation is to be secured by legal agreement is set out in 
section 6.10i of the report.  

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

6.11 Financial contributions and legal agreements

6.11i Obligations
Heads of terms have been drawn up in preparation for securing the site and financial 
requirements generated by the development. The requirements requested by the Housing 
Development Team, the County Highways Team, the Sports and Leisure Team, and as listed 
in the South Oxfordshire ‘S106 financial contributions and fees’ schedule, are as follows. All 
financial contributions are to be index linked:

Affordable 
Housing

 Delivery of affordable housing on-site
 For a site of 500 units this would equate to 200 affordable 

homes of which 75% (150) should be for rent and 25% (50) 
should be for shared ownership.

The finalised affordable housing figures and mix will be 
reported as a verbal update at Planning Committee on 28 
November 2018.

Highway 
works

As indicated on street view plans in the Appendices:
1. Financial contribution to cover footpath improvement works 

over bridge, and zebra crossing over Holloway Road
2. Redesign of Park Hill/London Road/Holloway Road 

roundabout
3. Dropped kerb and tactile paving crossing over Gardiner Close.
4. Build out on the northern side of Church Road, with dropped 

kerbs and tactile paving.
5. Dropped kerb / tactile paving crossing over the High Street
6. Widen the footway on the northern side of Littleworth Road 

(approximately 100m), plus dropped kerbs / tactile paving 
crossings

7. Footway / cycleway improvements from northern end of A40 
overbridge to Holton Turn, including dropped kerbs and cycle 
lane.

8. Improvements to the crossing points at the B4027 (Wheatley 
Road) and Church Hill (Forest Hill turn), to include resurfacing 
of the cycleway and signage.

9. Widen footway along western side of Waterperry Road from 
site access to junction with Old London Road

10. Provision of street lighting along A40 underpass and Old 
London Road.

11. Pedestrian/cycling crossing facility across Waterperry Road 
and footway along the northern side of Old London Road

12. Widen footway on northern side of London Road, plus provide 
crossing.

13. Widen existing footway along northern side of Old London 
Road from junction with Waterperry Road, plus dropped kerbs 
/ tactile paving crossings

14. Relocate the zebra crossing on London Road to the west of 
Anson Close

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

15. Signage at the eastern access to the site that informs cyclists 
of the National Cycle Network/Sustrans Route 57

Public 
transport 
contribution

 £720,000
 Towards one additional bus in the commercial fleet on an 

eight-year pump priming basis.
Travel Plan 
Monitoring

 £2040

Open space 
and play 
provision

 On-site delivery of open space and play provision in 
accordance with the Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan dwg 
7590-L-19 Rev F, and in conformity with policy R2 and R6 of 
the SOLP, clarified as follows: 
‘The amount of land required for informal recreation use will be 
about 10% of the total site area and in larger developments 
the percentage is likely to be higher than this, where a public 
space network is required to fulfil multiple functions as well as 
informal recreation.’

Sports and 
leisure 
provision

Costs are for ten-year maintenance and sinking fund contributions 
(based on Sport England Facility Costs).
All financial contributions are to be index linked.

The bowls lawn, cricket pitch and pavilion will require outline 
specifications to be drawn up and attached to the s106 agreement. 
Prior to reserved matters, detailed specification will be required, 
which will incur a fee towards commissioning a suitable body to 
prepare the specification, assess construction of the project, and 
sign off compliance with sports standards.

 Flat Green Bowls 
On-site provision and annual maintenance:
6.3% annual maintenance – (£145k x 6.3% x 10 years = 
£91,350) 

 Cricket 
On-site provision and annual maintenance: 
One pitch with two lane net facility to current Sport England 
and ECB standards
4.9% annual sinking fund and 15.3% annual maintenance – 
(£285k x 4.9% x 10 years = £39,650, £285k x 15.3 x 10 years 
= £436,050)

 Running route 
On-site provision with way-markers

 Pavilion
 Provision of two changing room facility to meet Sport 

England and English Cricket Board current standards 
 Community room (to be able to accommodate a Short Mat 

bowls green)
 Sufficient storage to accommodate each element of use, i.e. 

cricket, bowls (short and flat green) and community use.
 Sinking fund and annual maintenance:

0.3% annual sinking fund and 0.6m annual maintenance – 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

(£255k x 0.3% x 10 years = £7,650, £255k x 0.6% x 10 
years = £15,300)

 Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) 
Financial contribution of £900,000 to cover the construction of 
a full size, flood lit, artificial grass football pitch with rugby 
‘shock pad’, maintenance and a sinking fund for 25 years.

 Tennis Courts 
Financial contribution of £355,000 to cover off-site delivery and 
sinking fund annual maintenance

 Development Post
Financial contribution of £90,000 to cover a 2-year sports 
development post directly connected with sports facilities 
provided through the development, and to facilitate integration 
and growth of clubs using the facilities

Public art  On-site delivery, in accordance with D12 of the SOLP and 
SODC ‘S106 financial contributions and fees’. This equates to 
on-site provision to value of approximately £300 per dwelling. 

Street naming, 
waste 
collection, 
and legal 
agreement 
monitoring 
fees

 £91,700 
(Based on 500 unit scheme)

Monitoring Figure to be agreed in accordance with the South Oxfordshire 
‘S106 financial contributions and fees’ schedule, once number of 
triggers known:

 Affordable housing monitoring / admin
 Recording and Reporting
 Financial Monitoring (per financial contribution / trigger): admin 

/ monitoring each time and element is paid / adding to system / 
management sign off / financial processing

 On site provision per open space, play area:
 Play space
 On site provision of buildings, per inspection (pavilion)
 Transfer of land: sports facilities, pavilion, open space

6.11ii I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy CSI1 and CSR3 of the 
SOCS, which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and 
off-site infrastructure and services, and to resist the loss of community facilities. The addition, 
the measures accord with policy CF1 of the SOLP, which safeguards recreation and 
essential community facilities or services, and secures the provision of alternative facilities 
(or similar facilities of equivalent community value) on a site elsewhere in the locality. The 
requirements accord with the relevant tests in paragraph 56 of the revised NPPF as they are 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to the 
development, and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

6.11iii Community Infrastructure Levy
The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016.  With the 
exception of the affordable housing, any new build floor space is CIL liable at a rate of 
£170.73 per sqm (as per indexing figure January 2018).  The floor area would be calculated 
at reserved matters stage, when the details of the development are provided. 

The infrastructure requirements for the development site specifically relate to education and 
health care. The county council has confirmed that the current primary school could 
accommodate the increase associated with 500 households, and the Clinical Commissioning 
Trust has requested a contribution to allow the health care centre to be reconfigured, thereby 
providing additional consultation rooms. The mechanism for securing funding for education 
and health care is through CIL. Residential development constitutes a type of development 
that would be liable for CIL, and subject to the funding being drawn down, there is a funding 
route to address the identified infrastructure requirements.  

Under the CIL regulations, the Parish Council receive a proportion of CIL money; 
15 percent without an adopted Neighbourhood Plan, or 25 percent of the CIL money 
collected from the development if the Neighbourhood Plan is already adopted. The Parish 
Council could choose to spend their proportion of CIL money on infrastructure projects that 
are priorities for the local community or could contribute towards strategic infrastructure.   

6.12 Environmental Impact Assessment
The proposed development is classified as schedule 2 development: 10(b) – Urban 
development projects. The development exceeds the EIA threshold of 150 dwellings and the 
development site area exceeds 5 hectares. The local planning authority issued a scoping 
opinion in March 2017 (reference P16/S3686/SCO) to confirm that the development 
constituted EIA development and to establish the likelihood of significant environmental 
impacts that would need to be covered in the form of an Environment Statement (ES). 

Sufficient information was submitted with the planning application in January 2018 to fully 
assessment the environmental impact. At the point revisions to the scheme were submitted 
(October 2018), an EIA addendum was also provided to cover any impact associated with 
the changes and to evaluate any change in impact since originally submitted at the beginning 
of the year. The level of detail in the addendum was appropriate to the proposed revisions 
and a new ES was therefore not required.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officer recommends that outline planning permission is granted because the 

proposed development is considered to be acceptable for the following reasons:

7.1i The development site at Oxford Brookes campus (Wheatley) is located outside the 
built limits of a settlement, where large-scale development would not normally be 
appropriate. However, policies CSEN2 and CSEM5 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy recognise the site as being previously development where redevelopment 
may be acceptable, subject to according with national and Development Plan policies, 
specifically Green Belt policy, and responding positively to the site constraints and 
characteristics of the surrounding area.

7.1ii By virtue of the volume of built form currently on-site, in comparison to the proposed 
level of development, the proposal would not have any greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt than existing development. The replacement buildings 
would be less prominent and smaller in scale than those previously associated with 
the education blocks, and the dispersal across the site would achieve a more spacious 
and open character than existing. The level of development and spread across the site 
would not cause ‘substantial harm’ to openness and would contribute to ‘meeting an 

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority’. 
There are public benefits delivered by the proposal that would amount to very special 
circumstances for development in the Green Belt.

7.1iii The development extends into the western part of the site towards listed buildings on 
the adjacent site, parkland setting and a scheduled monument. The layout would 
represent ‘less than substantial harm’ in heritage terms, and there are public benefits 
delivered by the proposal that would contribute positively in outweighing the harm. 

7.1iv Subject to the delivery of off-site highways and pedestrian improvement works, the 
development represents sustainable development with bus, walking and cycling routes 
to key services and facilities, making provision for the increased footfall directly 
resulting from the increase in households who would be residing on the site. 

7.1v The outline scheme, parameter plans and illustrative layout have demonstrated that a 
scheme of 500 units can be accommodated on the site without compromising the 
landscaping and trees, which form an important characteristic if the site and edge of 
village setting. Suitable conditions would secure replacement landscaping and planting 
to assist in integrating the development into the edge of settlement location.

7.1vi Subject to the delivery of on and off-site sports and leisure provision, the development 
would not result in the loss of essential community facilities or sports pitches in the 
local area. In addition, the obligations set out in the report, to be secured through legal 
agreement, and as required by the CIL schedule, provide a suitable mechanism to 
secure on-site delivery and financial contributions towards key infrastructure. The 
requirements accord with the relevant tests in paragraph 56 of the revised NPPF as 
they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are 
directly related to the 500 unit residential development, and are fair and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development.

7.1vii In conclusion, very special circumstances exist to that demonstrate that the principle of 
residential development in the Green Belt is acceptable. In addition to being a 
previously developed site, an increase in openness achieved by the flattening and 
wider dispersal of buildings, demonstrates the proposal would not have any greater 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt than existing development. Revisions to the 
layout and parameter plans have resulted in a scheme that responds appropriately to 
the site constraints and areas of importance within the site. There are public benefits 
and on-site mitigation delivered through the proposal, which outweigh the identified  
‘less than substantial harm’ to the heritage significance, as well as on and off-site 
infrastructure secured through the legal agreement. On this basis, the development 
accords with the revised National Framework and the Development Plan, and officers 
recommend approval of the outline planning permission.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
To authorise the head of planning to grant planning permission subject to:

A. The completion of a s106 agreement securing:

1. Affordable Housing
2. Highway works
3. Public transport contribution
4. Travel plan monitoring
5. Open space and play provision
6. Sports and leisure provision
7. Public art

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

8. Street naming, waste collection, and legal agreement monitoring fees
9. Monitoring / compliance fees

B. Subject to the following conditions:

1. Commencement - Outline with Reserved Matters 
[appearance, landscaping, layout, scale]

2. In accordance with parameter plans
3. Outline – up to 500 residential units
4. Phasing to be agreed 
5. Site wide masterplan, updated with each RM
6. Market split - in general conformity with SHMA
7. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
8. Existing vehicular accesses 
9. Details of visibility splays
10. Off-site highway works (details to be submitted) 
11. Travel plan
12. Construction Method Statement
13. Hours of construction
14. Archaeological working brief
15. Archaeological watching brief and findings report
16. Biodiversity enhancement plan
17. Biodiversity enhancement plan - compliance
18. Landscaping scheme
19. Tree protection
20. Drainage 
21. Contaminated Land – remediation works
22. Contaminated Land – completion of works
23. Noise mitigation strategy, including details of bund
24. Lighting scheme
25. On-site provision of open space / play space
26. Play strategy to confirm detail
27. Detailed specification of sports / leisure provision and pavilion prior to 

RM stage

Author: Katherine Canavan
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 32



Church Farm

St Bartholomew's Church

Old House

Barns

Close

Wheatley Park School

A

4
0

Church End

Farm Cottages

W

a

t

e

r

p

e

r

r

y

 

R

o

a

d

L

o

n

d

o

n

 

R

o

a

d

WHEATLEY

HOLTON

Oxford Brookes University

Wheatley Campus

Taylor Wimpey development

(under construction)

NOTES

This drawing is the property of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd and is issued on the

condition it is not reproduced, retained or disclosed to any unauthorised person, either

wholly or in part without written consent of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd.

Ordnance Survey Mastermap - Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence Number:

100019980 (Centremapslive.com).

N

rev

CAD file

environmental assessment

arboriculture

ecology

masterplanning

landscape design

urban design
FPCR Environment and Design Ltd

Lockington Hall

Lockington

Derby   DE74 2RH

t: 01509 672772

f: 01509 674565

e: mail@fpcr.co.uk

w: www.fpcr.co.uk


architecture

Oxford Brookes University

Wheatley Campus,

Oxfordshire

SITE LOCATION PLAN
1:2500 @ A1

08 January 2018 JMG / JJ

7590-L-17 A

J:\7500\7590\LANDS\Plans\7590-L-17 - Site Location Plan.dwg

KEY

Application Site Boundary

0 250m50 100 150 200

Appendix 1

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 7



Taylor Wimpey Development
(Under Construction)

Site Boundary: 21.47Ha

Proposed Residential Development: 10.78Ha 
(up to 500 dwellings)

Vehicular and Pedestrian Accesses:
1: Existing access off Waterperry Road
2: Proposed access road

Proposed Primary Street  

Proposed Secondary Streets

Existing Scheduled Monument

Existing vegetation: Includes trees, 
woodland, hedgerows and scrub

Proposed Tree Planting

Proposed Attenuation Basins and SwalesProposed Private Drives

Proposed Multifunctional Green Infrastructure (GI)
(10.69Ha) includes: 
- Retained habitats (trees, woodland, hedgerows, grassland, parkland & ponds).
- New habitat creation, open space (greenways, footway/cycle links, children’s 
play areas, outdoor sports provision), grassland meadow, wetlands,trees/
parkland trees.

- SuDS (swales and basins).
- Retained Scheduled Monument and setting.
- Retained setting to Old House.
- Landscape buffer including structural planting & acoustic bund to  
London Road A40

A40
London Road

WHEATLEY

Old House

W
at

er
pe

rry
 R

oa
d

Acoustic Bund

Sports 
Pavilion

2

1

ILLUSTRATIVE LAYOUT
1:1250 @ A1 / 1:2500 @ A3

18 September 2018 JMG

7590-L-10 rev M

Oxford Brookes University
Wheatley Campus,
Oxford fpcr

masterplanning  
environmental assessment    

landscape design 
urban design

ecology 
architecture    

arboriculture    

FPCR Environment and Design Ltd
Lockington Hall
Lockington 
Derby   DE74 2RH

t:   01509 672772
f:   01509 674565
e:  mail@fpcr.co.uk
w: www.fpcr.co.uk

J:\7500\7590\LANDS\Plans\7590-L-10 rev M - Illustrative Layout.indd

Appendix 1

P
age 34



Appendix 2

P
age 35



P
age 36



Church Farm

St Bartholomew's Church

Old House

Barns

Close

Wheatley Park School

A

4
0

Church End

Farm Cottages

W

a

t

e

r

p

e

r

r

y

 

R

o

a

d

L

o

n

d

o

n

 

R

o

a

d

WHEATLEY

HOLTON

Taylor Wimpey development

(under construction)

NOTES

This drawing is the property of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd and is issued on the

condition it is not reproduced, retained or disclosed to any unauthorised person, either

wholly or in part without written consent of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd.

Ordnance Survey Mastermap - Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence Number:

100019980 (Centremapslive.com).

N

rev

CAD file

environmental assessment

arboriculture

ecology

masterplanning

landscape design

urban design
FPCR Environment and Design Ltd

Lockington Hall

Lockington

Derby   DE74 2RH

t: 01509 672772

f: 01509 674565

e: mail@fpcr.co.uk

w: www.fpcr.co.uk


architecture

Oxford Brookes University

Wheatley Campus,

Oxfordshire

PARAMETERS PLAN 3: BUILDING HEIGHTS
1:2500 @ A1

20 June 2018 JMG / JJ

7590-L-20 F

J:\7500\7590\LANDS\Plans\7590-L-20 - Parameters Plan 3 - Heights.dwg

KEY

Site Boundary

0 250m50 100 150 200

Up to Two Storey Buildings

Up to Three Storey Buildings

Up to Four Storey Buildings

Scheduled Monument

Green Infrastructure / Location for Community

Sports Building and Associated Infrastructure

including SUDS

P
age 37



 

Highways works 

 

 
Plan no.1 indicating length of footway widening along Littleworth Road  
 

 
 
Plan no.2 showing improvements for Holloway Road  

Page 38



 

 

 
 
 
 

P
la

n 
no

.3
 s

ho
w

in
g 

ov
er

vi
ew

 o
f a

ll 
hi

gh
w

ay
 w

or
ks

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee- 28 November 2018

APPLICATION NO. P18/S1729/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 22.5.2018
PARISH BERINSFIELD
WARD MEMBER(S) John Cotton
APPLICANT H M Estate
SITE 180 and 182 Fane Drive Berinsfield, OX10 7QA
PROPOSAL Conversion of two takeaway units to two residential 

units. (As amended by plans received on 29 June 
showing revised parking arrangement).

OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to planning committee as the officers’ recommendation of 

approval conflicts with the views of Berinsfield Parish Council.

1.2 The application site lies within the built-up limits of Berinsfield within a parade of 
mainly vacant shops and takeaways.  There are residential flats above with pedestrian 
access to existing flats via an external staircase at the rear of the premises in the 
parking and service yard. The last known use of no 180 Fane Drive was a Chinese 
Takeaway and no 182 an Indian Takeaway. Both these used ceased trading several 
years ago. 

1.3 The site lies within the Oxford green belt and is identified on the Ordnance Survey 
Extract attached at Appendix 1.

1.4 Planning permission was granted last year for the alteration of the roof above the 
parade of shops to create 2 additional flats at second floor level (P17/S074/FUL). This 
permission has not yet been implemented.  A prior notification to confirm that the 
change of use of no 178 from A1(retail) to C1 (residential) is permitted development 
has also been issued under ref P16/S2162/PRR.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the conversion of 2 vacant units to 2 

x 2- bed units of residential accommodation. The last use of these units was for Indian 
and Chinese takeaways.

2.2 In its amended form, each unit would have its own allocated parking space at the rear.

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Full responses can be found on the council’s website.

Berinsfield Parish Council – Object original plans.

 Insufficient parking for the number of properties on the site
 Loss of shops in the village
 Over-development of the site.

Page 41

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1729/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee- 28 November 2018

Object to amended plans
 Insufficient parking for the number of properties on the site which might result in 

residents of the flats parking in the layby in front of the premises or in Chiltern 
Close, which would cause additional congestion in that road

 Loss of shops in the village
 Over-development of the site.

Economic Development – Objection Loss of a retail unit. Insufficient marketing 
information submitted.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection subject to 
condition relating to parking and manoeuvring

Environmental Protection Team - No objection 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S1610/DIS - Approved (06/06/2018)

Discharge of planning conditions 5(cycle parking), 6(traffic management), 7(material 
samples) for planning permission P16/S0352/FUL.
A two storey building compromising four x one bed room flats. As clarified by noise 
report dated 7 April 2016.

P17/S2074/FUL - Approved (18/09/2017)
Alteration of the roof shape to mansard to provide 2 x flats. (As amplified by plan ref 
BHR-A-305 showing parking).
related to P16/S0352/FUL

P16/S2162/PRR - Other Outcome (16/08/2016)
Change of use from A1 to 2 x 1 bedroom flats, Minor alterations to the front elevation.

P16/S2161/PRR - Refused (16/08/2016)
Change of use from A1 to 2 x 1 bedroom flats, Minor alterations to the front elevation.

P16/S0352/FUL - Approved (07/06/2016)
A two storey building compromising four x one bed room flats. As clarified by noise 
report dated 7 April 2016.
related to P17/S2074/FUL

P10/W0083/DIS - Other Outcome (18/10/2012)
Proposal for four one bed flats  (As amended by Drawing Nos. 04D and 05B and Noise 
Assessment received 1 June 2009).

Discharge of conditions 2, 3, 6, 7, & 9 on Application P09/W0247.

P12/S1145/EX - Approved (17/10/2012)
Extension of time for implementation for planning permission P09/W0247 (Proposal for 
four one bed flats  (As amended by Drawing Nos. 04D and 05B and Noise Assessment 
received 1 June 2009)).

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages

Page 42

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1610/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S2074/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2162/PRR
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2161/PRR
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0352/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/W0083/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P12/S1145/EX


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee- 28 November 2018

CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSR3  -  Community facilities and rural transport
CSEN2 – Green Belt

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
GB4 – Openness and visual amenity of the green belt
CF1- Safeguarding community facilities and services including recreation facilities.

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan policies; Plan stalled

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The key issues to be considered in the determination of this planning application are:

 Whether the principle of residential development is acceptable in this location- 
housing policy/green belt/loss of community facility.

 Physical changes to the building
 Impact on neighbours
 Highways/parking
 Garden sizes
 CIL
 Other issues

6.2 Principle
In order to determine whether the principle of residential development on this site is 
acceptable, the proposal has to be considered from 3 different approaches: 

 Housing policy, 
 Green Belt policy 
 Safeguarding community facility

Housing policies and housing land supply 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission to be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall 
have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations. Development which is not in 
accordance with an up-to-date development plan should be refused unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

6.3 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2018) advises that there is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. For decision -taking this means

Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee- 28 November 2018

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless:

i. The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole.

6.4 Footnote 6 (referenced in para 11) of the NPPF (2018) introduces the specific policies 
in the NPPF that indicate where development should be restricted. Amongst these are 
policies relating to green belts.

6.5 In the context of paragraph 11 and 213 of the NPPF the council’s Development Plan is 
not out of date because the Council can demonstrate a five-year housing land supply 
based on the revised SMHA figures and the hierarchy of growth in the settlements has 
been found to be sound and, in my view, consistent with the NPPF.
 

6.6 However, it is clear that SOCS policy CSH1 (housing allocation distribution) is clearly 
out of date as the proposed “ site allocations DPD” was never progressed as proposed. 
This means that policy CSR1 is also out of date in this regard as in larger villages, it 
was envisaged growth would be progressed via allocations. As such, as this affects the 
current provision of housing in Berinsfield, and a such paragraph 118d) of the NPPF is 
engaged.

Paragraph 118 d) advises that planning policies and decisions should:

d) promote and support the development of under-utilised land and buildings,
especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land
supply is constrained and available sites could be used more effectively (for
example converting space above shops, and building on or above service
yards, car parks, lock-ups and railway infrastructure)

6.7 In summary, the council’s housing policies for “larger villages” in the Development Plan 
are out of date. As such, paragraph 118d) is engaged, this “tilts” the planning balance 
towards granting planning permission for new housing on this site in line with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.

6.8 The South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) allows for the provision of some housing 
in the smaller and other villages subject to the provision of the Policy CSR1. Berinsfield 
is identified as one of the “larger” villages where infill development is permitted and 
allocations for growth were envisaged. Redevelopment proposals in all categories of 
settlement may be acceptable but will be considered on a case by case basis through 
the development management process in line with other policies in the Development 
Plan. This proposal is for the redevelopment of the site as it involves converting existing 
takeaway units to residential flats. The units have been empty for a number of years 
and are underutilised and the council has a duty to bring them back into use. As such, I 
am of the view that the principle of the development under the housing policies of the 
Development Plan is acceptable.

Page 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee- 28 November 2018

6.9 Green Belt
The site lies within the Oxford green belt where there is a presumption against 
inappropriate development. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the 
openness and visual amenity of the green belt. The NPPF advises that the Government 
attaches great importance to green belts in preventing urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open. The Framework also sets down those developments which may not 
be inappropriate in the green belt. Included within these is the re-use of buildings 
provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial construction (para 146 of 
NPPF). There are no extensions proposed to the buildings which are of permanent and 
substantial construction. As such, the proposal would not have any material adverse 
impact on the openness or visual amenity of the Oxford green belt in accordance with 
policy GB4 of the SOLP and is acceptable in principle.

6.10 Safeguarding community facilities 
The loss of these units has been raised as an objection by the Parish Council and the 
District Council’s Economic Development team. Policy CF1 of the SOLP seeks to resist 
the loss of recreational facilities or essential community facilities or services through the 
change of use or redevelopment unless:

i. Suitable alternative provision is made for the facility (or similar facilities of 
equivalent community value) on a site elsewhere in the locality, or

ii. In the case of recreational facilities, it is not needed, or
iii. In the case of commercial services, it is not economically viable.

The explanatory text of policy CF1 states that “ a community facility or service may be 
essential, either because it is one of a limited number of that nature in a settlement or 
area, or is fundamental to the quality and convenience of everyday life in a settlement.”
Essential community facilities and services may include for example, general stores, 
post offices, public houses, community halls, libraries and primary health care services.
 
This proposal involves the “loss” of 2 vacant units (last used as takeaways) which are 
situated adjacent to a functioning supermarket. The units have been vacant for several 
years and therefore it can’t be argued that they are “fundamental to the quality and 
convenience of everyday life in the settlement”. It is my opinion that the proposal does 
not result in the loss of an essential community facility as the units have not been in use 
for a significant time. There is a fish and chip shop elsewhere in Berinsfield.

The premises have been vacant for more than a year and are underutilised. Within the 
NPPF, the Government encourages planning policies and decision to promote an 
effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses while safeguarding 
and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. In 
paragraph 118 (d) it encourages the promotion and support of the development of 
under-utilised land and buildings, “especially if this would help to meet identified needs 
for housing where land supply is constrained, and available sites could be used more 
effectively. “ 

This proposal would not, in my opinion, lead to a loss of essential community facilities 
and will provide 2 small units of accommodation.

6.11 In summary, the principle of this development when considered against housing, green 
belt and community facilities policies is acceptable in my view. 

6.12 Physical changes to the buildings
The proposed changes to the exterior of the buildings include a single front and rear 
door to each unit and casement windows. These alterations would be in keeping with 

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee- 28 November 2018

the flats at first and second floor level so would reinforce local distinctiveness in 
accordance of policy D1 of the SOLP. These alterations are shown in Appendix 2.

6.13 Impact on neighbours
The proposed residential units would be situated underneath existing first and second 
floor flats. The adjacent unit at number 178 is vacant and can be converted from retail 
to residential use under permitted development. The use of these units as residential is 
likely to result in less noise and disturbance to neighbours than if the units were in A5 
use with customers and staff coming and going late into the evening and the odours 
associated with takeaway uses. As such, it is considered that the proposed change of 
use would not be unneighbourly.

6.14 Highways/Parking
Policy T2 of the SOLP seeks to provide all development with parking of vehicles in 
accordance with the Council’s maximum parking standards. The South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide advises that 2 bed dwellings should be provided with a minimum of a 
single parking space. In this case each unit has been provided with a parking space. 
The Highway Authority have not raised an objection to the proposal subject to a 
condition to retain the parking areas. As such, there are no technical objections to this 
proposal.

6.15 Provision of gardens
Minimum standards for new residential development are recommended in the South 
Oxfordshire Design Guide and in saved policy D3 of the Local Plan. The proposed flats 
would have 2 bedrooms. A minimum of 35 sq units for 2 bed dwellings is required. In this 
case, no amenity space is provided. The existing flats at first and second floor, however, 
do not have gardens. This is not unusual for flats which are located above ground floor 
shops. The proposed flats would be in close proximity to a large, public open space, 
locally known as The Green.  The under provision of garden areas is not reason to refuse 
planning permission in my view in this case.

6.16 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) The council’s CIL charging schedule has 
recently been adopted and will apply to relevant proposals form 1 April 2016. CIL is a 
planning charge that Local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and 
to support the development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in 
footprint created as a result of the development

In this case, CIL is liable for the whole development because it involves the creation of 
2 dwellings. The CIL charge applied to new residential development in Berinsfield is 
£85 per square metre of additional floorspace (adjusted to £96.75 as per indexing 
figure January 2018) 

6.17 Other issues
There is an identified need for 2 bed dwellings in Berinsfield. This proposed 
development would create 2 highly sustainable small units of residential 
accommodation whilst at the same time improve the visual appearance of this parade 
of shops which is currently unattractive and neglected. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The principle of changing the use of these units is acceptable in terms of housing, 

green belt and retail policies. The development would enhance the appearance of the 
area and provide 2 small, highly sustainable units of residential accommodation. The 
proposal accords with Development Plan policies.

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee- 28 November 2018

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement three years – full planning permission.
2 : Approved plans. 
3 : Parking and manoeuvring areas retained. 

Author:                Kim Gould
Contact No:         01235 422600
e-mail:                 planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



7
5

7
7
b

UP

Drawing 
No:

Project No.

Date

CheckedDraw
n

Scale @ A3

A3

75 WILKINS ROAD EXTENSION

GFL

CLASS A1 
81.8 M2

OLIVER ROAD
W

IL
K

IN
S

 R
O

A
D

75

1:1250, 1:500

MAY 2018A101

BER 023

SITE AND BLOCK PLAN

FANE DRIVE 180182, BERINSFIELD
CONVERSION OF TWO SHOPS

TO TWO DWELLINGS

N

N

PROPOSAL

SITE LOCATION PLAN 1:1250 BLOCK PLAN 1:500

1:1250

0 5 m

1:500

RevA

Appendix 2

P
age 50



7
5

7
7
b

UP

Drawing 
No:

Project No.

Date

CheckedDraw
n

Scale @ A3

A3

75 WILKINS ROAD EXTENSION

GFL

CLASS A1 
81.8 M2

EXISTING

OLIVER ROAD
W

IL
K

IN
S

 R
O

A
D

75

1:100

MAY 2018A103

1:100

CONVERSION OF TWO SHOPS
TO TWO DWELLINGS

PROPOSED & EXISTING ELEVATIONS

FANE DRIVE 180182, BERINSFIELD
BER 023

PROPOSED ELEVATION  FANE DRIVE PROPOSED ELEVATION  BACK

EXISTING ELEVATION  FANE DRIVE EXISTING ELEVATION  BACK

P
age 51



7
5

7
7
b

UP

Drawing 
No:

Project No.

Date

CheckedDraw
n

Scale @ A3

A3

75 WILKINS ROAD EXTENSION

GFL

CLASS A1 
81.8 M2

EXISTING

OLIVER ROAD
W

IL
K

IN
S

 R
O

A
D

75

1:100

MAY 2018A102

N

1:100

CONVERSION OF TWO SHOPS
TO TWO DWELLINGS

PROPOSED & EXISTING PLAN

FANE DRIVE 180182, BERINSFIELD
BER 023

PROPOSED PLAN EXISTING PLAN

revA

P
age 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

APPLICATION NO. P18/S2866/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 7.9.2018
PARISH CROWMARSH GIFFORD
WARD MEMBER(S) Felix Bloomfield

Sue Cooper
APPLICANT P Shuttleworth and R Marffy
SITE 27 Benson Lane, Crowmarsh Gifford, Wallingford, 

OX10 8ED
PROPOSAL Detached dwelling (amended scheme to planning 

approval number P16/S2454/FUL).
OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee because the views of Crowmarsh 

Parish Council differ from the officer’s recommendation. 

1.2 The site lies within the built-up part of Crowmarsh Gifford, immediately adjoining the 
south eastern boundary of the former SODC office site. The site comprises the 
original side and part rear garden of no 27 Benson Lane. The site lies outside any 
area of restraint and is shown in the OS extract attached as Appendix 1.

1.3 The site is some 9.5m wide and 32.5m deep and is bounded by the host dwelling and 
its residual curtilage to the south and the former council offices to the north. Vehicular 
access to the existing dwelling is currently taken from the rear and pedestrian access 
from the front.

1.4 Planning permission was granted under planning ref P16/S2454/FUL for the sub-
division of the existing residential curtilage and the erection of a detached, two storey 
dwelling house. This remains an extant permission. The approved elevation and block 
plan are shown below.

Page 53

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2866/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

1.5 Planning permission was refused under planning ref P17/S2309/FUL for the erection 
of a more contemporary style dwelling. The refused elevation and block plan are 
shown below. 

The reason for the refusal of planning permission was:

1. That having regard to the contemporary style of the proposed dwelling 
and its siting forward of the neighbouring property within the narrow 
site, the proposed development would appear conspicuous and 
incongruous in the street scene. It would have a cramped and 
uncomfortable relationship with its neighbour causing material harm to 
the character and appearance of the area and fail to reinforce local 
distinctiveness contrary to policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy 2027 and policies G2, D1 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2011, to Section 7 of the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and to 
Government advice set down in the NPPF.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission to erect a detached two-bedroom 

dwelling. 

2.2 All documentation associated with this application can be viewed on the council’s 
website at www.southoxon.gov.uk. A selection of the submitted plans are attached as 
Appendix 2. The proposed south eastern elevation is shown below:

Page 54

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Crowmarsh Parish Council – Objection – The size and positioning of the proposed 

development are significant for a relatively small narrow parcel of land. The scale, bulk 
and design of the proposed dwelling are out of character for the area and are 
considered to be over development of the site.

SGN Plant Protection Team - No strong views

OCC Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to conditions relating to parking, 
turning and visibility.

Neighbour No Strong Views (1) – We have no objection to the proposed development 
on the land adjacent to our property. The design and style of the building will enhance 
the overall look of our street. The only point we would like clarification and consultation 
on is the parking bay for our own property which is included in the plan. We would like 
to have a final decision on the size and positioning of the parking bay.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P17/S2309/FUL - Refused (13/06/2018)

Detached dwelling (As amended or amplified by plans received on 21 March, 2018).
related to P16/S2454/FUL

P18/S1504/PD – Response (23/05/2018)
Conservatory extension to the rear and porch to front on approved dwelling ref 
P16/S2454/FUL

P16/S2454/FUL - Approved (02/09/2016)
Proposed sub-division of existing residential curtilage and erection of a detached two 
storey dwelling house. Provision of new rear vehicular access for existing dwelling.
related to P17/S2309/FUL

Page 55

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S2309/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1504/PD
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2454/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

P16/S1283/PEM – Response (16/05/2016)
Proposed sub-division of existing residential curtilage and erection of a detached two 
storey dwellinghouse. Provision of new vehicular access for existing dwelling.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan policies; Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be be 
given to relevant policies in emerging plans, unless other material considerations 
indicate otherwise, and only subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of 
unresolved objections and the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies 
with the NPPF.

Crowmarsh Gifford Parish Council are currently working on creating a Neighbourhood 
Plan and as such it has limited weight at this stage.

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are:

i. Principle and housing land supply.
ii. Policy H4 criteria
iii. Garden sizes
iv. CIL
v. Other issues

6.2 Principle and housing land supply

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission to be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall 

Page 56

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1283/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations. Development which is not in 
accordance with an up-to-date Development Plan should be refused unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2018) advises that there is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. For decision-taking this means;

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless:

i. The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

ii. Any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
as a whole.”

Crowmarsh Gifford is defined within the SOCS as a larger village. Policy CSR1 of the 
SOCS allows for infill development within the larger villages. Infill is defined as “the 
filling of a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage or on other sites within 
settlements where the site is closely surrounded by buildings.” This site is a gap in an 
otherwise built up frontage and is closely surrounded by buildings. As such the principle 
of residential development is acceptable. An extant permission exists for the erection of 
a single dwelling on this site which reinforces the opinion that the principle of residential 
development is acceptable on this site. 

In the context of paragraph 11 and 213 of the NPPF the council’s Development Plan is 
not out of date because the council can demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply 
based on the revised SMHA figures and the hierarchy of growth in settlements has 
been found to be sound and consistent with the NPPF.

However, it is clear SOCS that policy CSH1 (housing allocation distribution) is out of 
date as the proposed site allocations DPD was never progressed as proposed. This 
means that policy CSR1 is also out of date in respect of the allocation of sites and 
housing growth in larger villages. However, as this site is an infill site in a larger village, 
the principle of development is acceptable. 

In summary, the council’s housing policies for “larger villages” in the Development Plan 
are out of date. As such, paragraph 11(d) is engaged and the level of conflict with 
policy CSR1 carries less weight. This “tilts” the planning balance towards granting 
planning permission for new housing on this site in line with the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.

If the proposed housing development is acceptable in principle, then the detail of the 
proposal must be assessed against the relevant criteria of saved policy H4 of the 
SOLP.

Page 57



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

6.3 Policy H4 criteria
Policy H4 of the SOLP allows for housing on sites within the built-up area of the villages 
provided that:

 An important open space of public, environmental or ecological values is 
not lost, nor an important public view spoilt. In this case, the site was 
originally the side and rear garden of no 27 Benson Lane so is not an important 
public space or ecologically important. An extant planning permission exists for 
the erection of a detached dwelling on this site so the principle of developing 
this site for residential development has already been established.

 The design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are 
in keeping with its surroundings Although there is a variety of house types 
and styles along Benson Lane, most are traditional in style and appearance. In 
the immediate vicinity of the site, to the side and rear, there is a very uniform 
style of semi-detached dwellings in relatively spacious plots. The extant 
permission has established the principle of a detached dwelling on this site 
using materials which reflect those on the neighbouring properties and which 
sits generally in line with the established building line of development. This 
current proposal would use brick and clay tiles which would reinforce local 
distinctiveness and be in keeping with its surroundings. It would be of a design 
and height comparable to the “host” dwelling and similar in appearance and 
scale to the extant scheme. 

 The character of the area is not adversely affected. Although the site lies 
outside any area of restraint, regard must be had to the established character of 
the area and how this proposal will appear in the street scene. Paragraph 130 of 
the NPPF advises that permission should be refused for poor design that fails to 
take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 
area and the way it functions. In this case, the site lies within an established 
residential area and the proposed development would not adversely affect the 
character of the area in my view.

 There are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; 
 Amenity: The property most affected by this proposal would be the “host” 

dwelling at no 27 Benson Lane. The proposed new dwelling would not project 
materially beyond the front elevation of no 27. A minimum distance of 1.78 
metres would remain between the two dwellings which would not result in 
unacceptable levels of amenity for the occupier of no 27 Benson lane. 

 Environmental: I do not consider that there would be any unacceptable 
environmental implications as a result of this proposal. 

 Highways: The proposed dwelling has 2 bedrooms. The council’s parking 
standards for a 2-bed dwelling as set down in the South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide is 2 spaces. This proposal has 3 spaces so exceeds the council’s parking 
standards for this type of development and the County Highway Authority have 
not raised any objection to this proposal.

 If the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create 
problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of 
the settlements. This proposal would not constitute backland development.

6.4 Plot coverage and garden size
Policy D3 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that new dwellings should provide adequate 
private outdoor space. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity space will 
be determined by the size of the dwelling and the character of the surrounding 
development. 

Page 58



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum amount of private amenity 
space for 3-bedroom units and above at 100 square metres and for 2-bedroom units 50 
square metres. 

The proposed dwelling has 2 bedrooms. The rear garden area provided for this 
property is approximately 57 square metres (excluding the parking spaces) and 87 
square metres at the front. 

No 27 Benson Lane would retain a garden of some 100sqm therefore the proposal 
therefore accords with Design Guide advice. 

6.5 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
CIL is a planning charge that local planning authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area and is primarily calculated 
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development.

In this case, CIL is payable for the whole development because it involves the creation 
of a new dwelling. The CIL charge applied to new residential development in this case 
is £150 per square metre of additional floorspace (adjusted to £170.73 as per indexing 
figure January 2018).

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The council’s housing policies for “larger villages” in the Development Plan are out of 

date. However, Crowmarsh Gifford is classified as a village where limited infilling 
development and redevelopment of existing sites is permitted in principle. This “tilts” the 
planning balance towards granting planning permission for new housing on this site in 
line with the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The design and 
materials of the proposed dwelling reflect local vernacular. The site affords for sufficient 
amenity space and parking and would not result in materially harmful unneighbourly 
impact to adjacent properties. Conditions are proposed relating to highway matters and 
materials. The proposal is therefore in accordance with Development Plan policies and 
national planning policy and planning permission should be granted subject to the  
conditions listed below.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Schedule of materials.
4. New vehicular access. 
5. Vision splay dimensions. 
6. UNIQUE - Turning areas and car parking.

Author:           Kim Gould
Contact No:    01235 422600
Email:             Planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



GSPublisherVersion 0.2.100.100

1,000928

EP

M
H

1

2

3

4

5

Gate

Kerb line

C
hain link fence h=0.9

Larch lap fence h=1.4

C
lose board fence h=1.8

H
ornbeam

m
ultibole

h=9

H
ornbeam

m
ultibole

h=9

Spruce

d=0.23

h=9

Spruce

d=0.25

h=10

GatesGate

Gates

Kerb line

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

1.000m

9.56m
No.27

Chain link fence h=0.9

Close board fence h=1.8

Brick wall

C
abinet

BENSON LANE

WINTER'S FIELD

Proposed New House 
on land adjacent to 
27 Benson Lane 
Crowmarsh 
OX10 8ED

010  Proposed Site Location Plan Scale 1:200 @A4

Appendix 2

Page 62



GSPublisherVersion 0.2.100.100

SIDE 1 ELEVATION

Scale 1:50 @A3Prposed New House on
land adjacent to
27 Benson Lane
Crowmarsh
OX10 8ED

004 Proposed North East Elevation

P
age 63



GSPublisherVersion 0.2.100.100

REAR ELEVATION

Proposed New House on
land adjacent to
27 Benson Lane
Crowmarsh
OX10 8ED

007 Proposed North West Elevation Scale 1:50 @A3

P
age 64



GSPublisherVersion 0.2.100.100

FRONT ELEVATION

Proposed New House 
on land adjacent to
27 Benson Lane 
Crowmarsh
OX10 8ED

004 Proposed South East Elevation Scale 1:50 @A3

P
age 65



GSPublisherVersion 0.2.100.100

SIDE 2 ELEVATION

006 Proposed South West Elevation Scale 1:50 @A3Proposed New House on
land adjacent to
27 Benson Lane
Crowmarsh
OX10 8ED

P
age 66



GSPublisherVersion 0.2.100.100

A
A

B B

1,
57

5
5,

39
0

3,
71

3
4,

05
0

16
5

1,
41

0
16

5
5,

06
0

16
5

3,
54

8
16

5

450 330 3,380 330 725 200 1,300 200 395 330

165 285

4,040 3,150

165 3,710 165 2,985 165

553 2,935
2,110

553 725 284 1,135
975

281 725

3,600 3,365 675
165 3,435 165 3,035 165 510 165

553 1,135
1,210

1,913 890 1,585
1,210

890 675

1,
57

5
6,

61
9

2,
48

4
4,

05
0

1,
79

0
1,

13
5

1,
21

0
70

3
1,

62
5

1,
19

6
17

0

16
5

1,
41

0
16

5
6,

45
4

33
0

1,
57

5
99

0
10

0
1,

74
0

10
0

3,
18

9
17

0

33
0

3,
21

5
10

0
5,

12
7

33
0

99
0

1,
02

6
21

3
90

0
2,

01
0

87
10

0
58

5
82

0
2,

01
0

100 3,050

330 3,490 100 2,715 675 330

2,630 260
100

500 100 1,250 1,290 850

600 100
176

900
2,010

2,
56

5
10

0
13

6
69

0
2,

01
0

20
0

71
4

38
6

10
0

41
4

900
2,010

50 100 910 100 2,040

330 3,380 330

100 3,510 100

100 3,570 70 2,730 740 100

10
0

3,
29

5
70

5,
20

7
10

0

Scale 1:50 @A3Prposed New House on
land adjacent to
27 Benson Lane
Crowmarsh
OX10 8ED

002 Proposed Furst Floor Plan

Page 67



GSPublisherVersion 0.2.100.100

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

8910111213
D

O
W

N

U
P 13R x 208 mm

12G x 250 mm

1,
57

5
5,

39
0

7,
76

3

7,190

16
5

1,
41

0
16

5
5,

06
0

16
5

7,
59

8
16

5

165 6,860 165

450 3,470 1,050 2,340

165 285

1,800 1,800 3,365 675
165 3,435 165 3,035 165 510 165

44
0

1,
02

3
2,

10
0

11
3

1,
57

5
13

,1
53

16
5

1,
41

0
16

5
12

,9
88

55
3

57
3

76
0

2,
80

2
1,

02
3

2,
10

0

553 1,135
1,210

113 113 140 1,408 140 328 1,023
2,110

2,015 675

328 1,023
2,400

11
3

14
0

1,
18

2
14

0
1,

67
8

2,
03

5
2,

11
0

1,
67

8
4,

16
2

1,
02

3
2,

40
0

10
2

1,
02

3
2,

40
0

10
2

1,
02

3
2,

40
0

32
8

330 6,530 330

100 6,660 100

33
0

4,
73

0
10

0
7,

66
3

33
0

10
0

4,
81

0
70

7,
74

3
10

0

330 3,490 100 1,050 100 2,240 330

100 3,570 70 1,080 70 2,320 100

27
2

98
0

2,
01

0

33
0

2,
56

5
10

0
79

0
10

0
85

0
10

0
1,

80
0

10
0

10
0

1,
59

4
90

0
2,

01
0

15
1

70
72

69
0

2,
01

0
58

70
88

0
70

77
6

90
0

2,
01

0
15

5
70

100 32 980
2,010

38 100

1,490 850

330 1,040 100 1,565 675

103 4,284 103 1,023
2,400

328

A
A

B B

Prposed New House on 
land adjacent
27 Benson Lane
Drowmarsh 
OX10 8ED

Proposed Ground Floor Plan       Sxale 1:50 @A3

Page 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

APPLICATION NO. P18/S1500/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 8.6.2018
PARISH PISHILL
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Mr Sebastian Brock
SITE Marigay, Russells Water, RG9 6EU
PROPOSAL Outline Application for a single storey 3 bedroom 

infill dwelling on land adjacent to Marigay 
incorporating matters of access, layout and scale 
with matters of appearance and landscaping 
reserved (site area extended to include access to 
highway as shown on amended site location plan 
received 8th June 2018 and additional cross- 
sections received 12th July 2018).

OFFICER Paul Lucas

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Officers recommend that outline planning permission should be granted. This report 

explains how officers have reached this conclusion. The application is referred to 
Planning Committee due to Pishill with Stonor Parish Council’s and Swyncombe 
Parish Council’s objections to the current plans.

1.2 The application site is shown attached at Appendix A. The site lies amongst a ribbon 
of development along the main road through the settlement of Russell’s Water. 
Marigay is a single storey dwelling constructed in brick and tile. A detached garage 
lies in front of the property, also constructed in brick and tile. The dwelling is set back 
from the road by about 65 metres. Marigay was constructed as a farm worker’s 
dwelling and its original curtilage was about 1150 cubic metres in the centre of the 
site. The land located between the dwelling and the road containing the driveway and 
areas of lawn and the open land to the north and west of the original curtilage are 
included within the application site. The western part of the site, including the land on 
which the dwelling sits, slopes down to the western boundary with agricultural land 
before falling away more steeply to a valley to the west.  The site is partly adjoined by 
residential plots in the form of Whistling Cottage to the north and east and Russell’s 
Water Farm to the south. Part of the southern boundary is with a shared access 
serving Marigay, Russell’s Water Farm and The Lookout, on the southern side of the 
access. There is common land on the opposite side of the road. The site lies within 
the Chilterns AONB, which washes over the settlement, but there are no other special 
designations on the site.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of a single storey flat-

roofed dwelling, with detailed consent sought for access, layout and scale at this stage, 
as shown on the current plans. Matters of appearance and landscaping are reserved 
for later consideration. The site location plan was revised during the application process 
to include all the access and driveway. Additional cross-sections were also submitted to 
help to illustrate the appearance of the dwelling.

2.2 Copies of the current plans are attached at Appendix B whilst other documentation 
associated with the application can be viewed on the Council’s website.

Page 69

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1500/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S1500/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Pishill with Stonor Parish Council – The application should be refused due to being 

inappropriate development in principle in the AONB and should be a detailed 
application

Swyncombe Parish Council – The application should be refused on the same 
grounds as the previous application P16/S2816/FUL was dismissed at appeal:
That the additional house would introduce an urbanising influence at odds with the 
distinctive, rural landscape character of this part of the village;
It would not conserve the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB, nor would it 
protect the distinctive character of this part of the village and its landscape setting; and
the proposal would only bring limited social and economic benefits and would not 
outweigh the harm to the AONB.

Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No objection subject to 
conditions

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection to amended 
site location plan subject to conditions

Chiltern Society – Object – This application is not in keeping with the character and 
appearance of the site and surrounding area and would harm neighbouring amenities.

Countryside Officer (South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse) - No objection

Neighbours – six representations of objection, summarised as follows:
 Plot too small for a dwelling of this size
 Footprint similar to the dwelling recently refused planning permission and 

dismissed at appeal
 Loss of privacy to Whistling Cottage – distance to boundary unclear
 Flat roofed dwelling out of keeping with the village and AONB – no precedent 

set by other flat-roofed dwellings in the vicinity

All representations can be viewed in full on the Council’s website.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S2038/FUL – Approved (23/08/2018)

Additional basement space for plant room and storage (amendment to planning 
permission P17/S1319/FUL).

P18/S0403/NM - Approved (09/03/2018)
Non material amendment to application ref. P17/S1319/FUL - to include a basement 
area for storage

P17/S1319/FUL - Approved (24/07/2017)
Demolition of the existing dwelling and garage and erection of a replacement 5-
bedroom two-storey dwelling and detached garage

P16/S2816/FUL - Refused (23/02/2017) - Appeal dismissed (02/08/2017)
Demolition of existing dwelling and garage and erection of replacement 5-bedroom 
dwelling with detached double garage, and demolition of detached garage and erection 
of a detached 4-bedroom dwelling with integral garage incorporating shared vehicular 
access.

Page 70

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2816/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S1500/O
http://savvpspocl01.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk:9081/PlanningOfficerModule2/mainapplicationscreen?application=P18/S2038/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0403/NM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1319/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2816/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1 -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1 -  Landscape protection
CSM1 -  Transport
CSQ2 -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3 -  Design
CSR1 -  Housing in villages
CSS1 -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) – Section 7 – Plots and Buildings
South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment – Character Area 9 Chilterns Ridges and 
Valleys
Chilterns Buildings Design Guide – Chapter 3

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
The policies within the SOCS and the SOLP 2011 of relevance to this application are in 
general conformity with the provisions of the NPPF and NPPG and therefore this 
application can be determined against the relevant policies above.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The planning issues that are relevant to this application are whether the development 

would:
 be in accordance with the Council’s strategy for housing development in rural areas;
 result in the loss of an open space or view of public, environmental or ecological 

value;
 be in keeping with the character and appearance of the surrounding area, bearing in 

mind its location within the Chilterns AONB
 safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residential occupiers and would 

provide suitable living conditions for future occupiers;
 provide adequate off-street parking spaces for the resultant dwelling and prevent any 

conditions prejudicial to highway safety; and
 give rise to any other material planning considerations.

Page 71



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

6.2 Principle of Development
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The development 
plan currently comprises the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the saved 
policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011). Russells Water is 
identified as an “other” settlement in the SOCS, capable of accommodating infill 
residential development on sites up to 0.1 hectare in area. The site is located within the 
built-up confines of the village and although there is no built-up frontage to the south of 
the site, the proposed development would be closely surrounded by buildings on three 
sides and would therefore be compliant with Policy CSR1 and acceptable in principle. 
Although the overall site area is greater than 0.1 hectare, the part of the site that would 
form the proposed infill plot would not exceed the 0.1 hectare limit. Furthermore, it is a 
material planning consideration that planning permission was previously refused for 
application P16/S2816/FUL on the same part of the site only in relation to its visual 
harm. Consequently, the proposal can be assessed primarily against the impact-based 
criteria of the SOLP 2011 Policy H4.

Current Site Plan:                                               Appeal Site Plan:   

6.3 Loss of Open Space
Criterion (i) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that an important open space of 
public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt. 
The site is private land and is not accessible to the public. The Council’s Countryside 
Officer has raised no objection to the proposal from an ecological perspective. The only 
public views of the site are from the main road, where a domestic outbuilding is partially 
screened by the boundary hedge. In these views, the site is seen within the context of 
surrounding residential plots. On this basis, the proposal would be in accordance with 
the above criterion.

6.4 Visual Impact
Criterion (ii) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that the design, height, scale and 
materials of the proposed development are in keeping with its surroundings and 
criterion (iii) requires that the character of the area is not affected. Policies CSQ3 of the 
SOCS and D1 of the SOLP 2011 expand upon the requirement for good design. Policy 
CSEN1 of the SOCS explains that high priority will be given to conservation and 
enhancement of AONBs and planning decisions will have regard to their setting. Policy 
C4 aims to safeguard the landscape setting of the District’s settlements. Paragraph 172 

Page 72

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2816/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

of the NPPF confirms that "great weight" should be given to conserving and enhancing 
the landscape and scenic beauty of the Chilterns AONB “which have the highest status 
of protection”. This reinforces the statutory duty placed on the Council under Section 85 
of the Countryside Rights of Way Act 2000.

6.5 It is clear that being located within an AONB does not preclude housing development, 
provided it is found to be sustainable and visually acceptable. Instead, the NPPF 
directs that the scale and extent of any development should be limited. In this location, 
The South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment (SOLA) identifies the site as belonging 
to a "semi-enclosed dipslope" with a “common or heath” opposite where the 
enhancement strategy is to "conserve". These landscape types have a high scenic 
quality and strong sense of place with uncommon intrusive influences. As a result, they 
have a moderate and high sensitivity to change, respectively, and the SOLA explains 
that the high quality of the semi-enclosed dipslope means that most forms of new 
development will potentially have an adverse impact on the Chilterns AONB. A 
particular objective is that special attention should be paid to creating strong landscape 
edges to settlements to reduce the urbanising influences of development on adjacent 
countryside and to prevent ribbon development along roads and the coalescence of 
settlements.

6.6 Although officers have accepted that the site is located within the settlement, the 
dwellings to the south of the site, Russells Water Farm and The Lookout, are set well 
back from the road behind mature planting, some of which is evergreen. This means 
that the existence of these dwellings is not obvious or conspicuous when approaching 
the site from the south, unless stood directly opposite their driveways. As a 
consequence, the southernmost extent of the built-up frontage of Russell’s Water 
appears to start with Whistling Cottage. Officers recognise that development on the 
frontage would not result in an adverse impact on the wider Chilterns AONB landscape. 
Although officers also acknowledge that the front of the site is not an open space of any 
particular public, environmental or ecological value, the largely undeveloped nature of 
the site frontage makes a positive contribution to the loose-knit character of the village 
setting within the Chilterns AONB.

6.7 The two-storey dwelling previously applied for on this site was dismissed at appeal as it 
was found to represent the introduction of significant built form, presenting a mass of 
two-storey brickwork of 10 metres depth and a maximum ridge height of 7.3 metres 
above existing ground levels in views from the south. It would have had the effect of 
consolidating the loose-knit pattern of development, resulting in a localised impact on 
the character of the settlement. Although the current proposal would have a similar 
footprint, as a single storey dwelling it would be materially different in its scale. The 
submitted cross-sections show that the proposed dwelling would have a flat roof at a 
height of 2.55 metres above existing ground levels. This would represent a significant 
reduction in massing when compared with the dismissed two-storey dwelling. The 
cross-sections also demonstrate that the dwelling would be set back by around 7 
metres from the roadside boundary hedge and the roof of the dwelling would range 
from 1 to 2 metres below the top of the hedge.

6.8 The proposed vehicular access would be formed off the private driveway leading to the 
existing dwelling, such that the existing roadside boundary hedge would be retained in 
its entirety, subject to a planning condition requiring tree/hedge protection details to be 
agreed and implemented prior to commencement. The retention of this existing 
landscape feature, comprising a mixture of evergreen and deciduous species, would 
filter any direct views of the proposed built form. This means that the dwelling’s higher 
building to plot ratio on plan form than its neighbours would not be evident, and it would 
not appear as an unduly prominent feature in public viewpoints in the southern 

Page 73



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

approach to the village. Additional planting to augment the established boundary foliage 
could be secured through the landscaping reserved matter.

6.9 Third party representations are critical of the contemporary design approach. However, 
the AONB designation does not direct that planning permission for contemporary 
dwellings should always be refused. The village contains a mixture of some traditional 
and more modern dwellings and there are some other flat-roofed dwellings amongst 
them. Officers consider that the visual impact of any non-traditional design features on 
the local vernacular would be limited given the existing enclosed nature of the site at 
single storey level. It is usually feasible for innovative designs to incorporate traditional 
and recessive external materials to help them blend in to their surroundings and this 
could be secured in this instance through details of appearance to be provided at the 
reserved matters stage. In the light of the above assessment, officers are satisfied that 
the current application has addressed the deficiencies with the previous application and 
would not significantly detract from the distinctive rural landscape character at this end 
of the village in accordance with the above policies.

6.10 Neighbour Impact
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
amenity objections. Policy D4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that all new dwellings should 
be designed and laid out to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers. 
The proposed dwelling would be positioned about 5 metres from the boundary with 
Whistling Cottage, which is dominated by mature conifers planted on the applicant’s 
land. The footprint of the proposed dwelling would project around 5 metres from the 
rear of Whistling Cottage, which is angled towards the boundary. Even if the conifers 
were to be removed in the future, the combination of single storey massing and the gap 
of about 10 metres to the closest rear-facing windows would be sufficient to prevent 
undue loss of light and outlook to the neighbours. 

6.11 The landscaping reserved matter would require appropriate retention/replacement of 
planting along the shared boundary. Such planting would also ensure that any views 
from first floor windows of Whistling Cottage angled towards the proposed rear garden 
of the proposed dwelling would not lead to direct overlooking. The plans indicate that 
there would be bedroom windows in the north-elevation facing Whistling Cottage. 
However, as appearance is a reserved matter, this detail is illustrative at this stage. 
Nonetheless, it is highly likely that any views towards Whistling Cottage would be 
obstructed by the boundary fence and any low-level planting and this would prevent 
any significant loss of privacy from occurring. 

6.12 The relationship between the proposed dwelling and Marigay to the rear, including the 
replacement dwelling most recently approved under P18/S2038/FUL would be 
acceptable in terms of light, outlook and privacy. The landscaping reserved matter 
would provide the detail required to form an appropriate mutual boundary. The 
proposed rear garden size would comply with the 100 square metre and 10 metre 
depth minimum standards set out in Section 7 of the SODG 2016. Based on this 
assessment, the proposal would accord with the above policies.

6.13 Access and Parking
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 also requires that there are no overriding 
highway objections. Policy T1 seeks to ensure that development would not be 
prejudicial to highway and pedestrian safety. The Highway Liaison Officer has 
commented that given the characteristics of the carriageway, vehicular traffic and 
speeds are likely to be low. The proposal would be unlikely to have a significant 
adverse impact on the highway network. Details relating to the maintenance of 
sightlines and the provision of adequate on-site parking and turning could be secured 

Page 74

http://savvpspocl01.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk:9081/PlanningOfficerModule2/mainapplicationscreen?application=P18/S2038/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

through planning conditions. On this basis, the proposal would comply with the above 
policies.

6.14 Other Material Planning Considerations
It is apparent to officers that the Inspector’s appeal decision concluded that the 
additional dwelling then before him would not reflect the pattern of development and 
would change significantly the landscape character, but the decision does not state that 
‘any’ additional dwelling would be harmful. It is therefore not necessarily the case that 
he would reach the same conclusion in relation to the impact of the current application, 
as suggested by some of the third-party representations. In any event, it is an accepted 
planning principle that each application must be assessed based on its individual 
merits. The amount of additional noise from activities associated with one additional 
dwelling would be unlikely to result in significant harm and if found to result in a 
statutory nuisance could be resolved through separate powers under the 1990 
Environmental Protection Act.

6.15 Community Infrastructure Levy
The proposed dwelling is liable for the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The CIL 
charge applied to new residential development in this case is £150 per square metre 
(index linked). 15% of the CIL payment would go the Parish Councils in the absence of 
any made Neighbourhood Plans.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application proposal would comply with the relevant Development Plan Policies

and it is considered that, subject to the attached conditions, the proposed development
would accord with the District’s Housing Strategy, would not be harmful to the character
and appearance of the locality or the wider Chilterns AONB landscape, including the 
retention of any important trees and hedges. The proposal would also not significantly 
detract from the residential amenity of nearby residents and would provide acceptable 
living conditions for future occupiers of the proposed dwelling, nor would it result in 
conditions prejudicial to highway safety. An acceptable external appearance and 
appropriate landscaping could be secured at the reserved matters stage.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant outline planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

1. Timescales for the submisson of reserved matters and the 
commencement of development.

2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3. No change in levels without written agreement.
4. Schedule of materials to be agreed prior to first use.
5. Tree protection to be agreed prior to commencement.
6. New vehicular access to be implemented prior to occupation. 
7. Vision splay details to be agreed prior to occupation. 
8. Parking and manoeuvring areas to be provided and retained in 

accordance with the approved plans. 
9. Restriction on use of roof to prevent use as a terrace.

Author:         Paul Lucas
Email:           Planning@southandvale.gov.uk
Telephone:   01235 422600

Page 75

mailto:Planning@southandvale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



Ground Floor 

dw n

dw n

-� -

,_ -

Sliding Doors 

C 

I.., 0 

� 

Study 

1;·�" 
�

" 
.:.\.!: _____ ..;JI_, ___ ,:..::.'. 

o·oo

I I [ ]bO bO 
C 

[ ] 
C ·-

C > ·-
iO

[ ] 
11 

1\/ 

(C • 

\· 
\ 

� 

---::
5t

r· \� ,r-i
I 

,....,._ .• 
:i�� 

� 

Land adjacent to 
Marigay, RG9 6EU

;

I 

I 

I 

I 

)' 
/ 

_l 

G_ 

I I 
I 

11 

-

Sliding Doors 

i 
� 
D 
D 
L 

Bedroom 1 

----
-------- �.1 
\Cl) I [ 
� I: 

•-. / I 

::,, 

�:,---' ' ' ' / ' 
X 

/ 

: ,,, ' ' / ' ., 

/ 

' 
ij$' I "

-----
-----

' '
/ I \ 1 -C-----�IIC!:J

. . 
I' 

" 

L DD u 
-

Bedroom 3 

Bedroom 2 

I/ 

i DD i I 

I 

Basement 

Store / Plant Room 

� 7

Sedum Roof 

NOTES: 

Do not scale from this drawing except for planning 
appl1cat1on purposes. 

The Contractor is to check and verify all building and site dimensions, 
levels and sewer invert levels at connection points before work starts. 
The Contractor is to comply in all respects with current Building 
Legislation, British Standard Specifications, Building Regulations, 
Construction (Design & Management) Regulations, Party Wall Act, etc. 
whether or not specifically stated on this drawing. This drawing must 
be read with and checked against any structural, geotechnical or other 
specialist documentation provided. 

This drawing is not intended lo show details of foundations, ground 
conditions or ground contaminants. Each area of ground relied upon to 
support any structure depicted (including drainage) must be investigated 
by the Contractor. A suitable method of foundation should be provided 
allowing for existing ground conditions. Any suspect or fluid ground, 
contaminates on or within the ground, should be further investigated 
by a surtable expert. Any earthwork constructions shown indicate typical 
slopes for guidance only & should be further investigated by a suitable 
expert. 

Where existing trees are to be retained they should be subject to a full 
Arboricultural inspection for safety. All trees are to be planted so as to 
ensure they are a minimum of 5 metres from buildings and 3 metres from 
drainage and services. A suitable method of foundation is to be provided 
to accommodate the proposed tree planting. 

Sketch proposals are for illustrative purposes only & as such are 
subject to detailed site investigation including ground 
conditions/contaminants, drainage, design & planning/density 
negotiations. Sketch proposals may be based upon enlargements of 
OS sheets & visual estimations of existing site features, accuracy 
will therefore need to be verified by survey. Sketch proposals have not 
been considered in respect of COM Regulations . 

.� 

Blue edge · existing owner retains ownership 

Red edge - Application site 

(9 
z 

z 

z 

<( 
_J 

Cl.. 

� -� 

.. 

..

.. ..

Rev Date Notes Initials 

Debrecq Developments Ltd 

PROJECT: 

Proposed Scheme 

Land adjacent to 

Marigay, RG9 6EU 

DRAWING TITLE: 

Proposed Floor Plan, Roof Plan and 
s i le p I an � -DR_A_W_N-+-

A J 

SCALE: 

1:50:100:500 at A1 25.04.18 

REV. 

DWG No: 018-04-1 A 

Appendix B

P
age 78



Status: 

Scale: 

PLANNING 

NIA@ A3 

I 
NOTE: This drawing is for planning purposes only. 

Drawing: Visualisation 

Dwg No: NIA 

,-

Date: 24/04/2018 

Project: Marigay In fi II 

Address: Russell's Water, llenley-on-Thamcs 

Debrecq Developments Ltd@ 
18 Old Brewer) Lane I: 01491 712 077 

Henley-on-Jhamcs. c: info@dcbrccq.com 
Oxfordshire 
RG92DE 

P
age 79



P
age 80



P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

APPLICATION NO. P18/S2940/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 29.8.2018
PARISH WOODCOTE
WARD MEMBERS David Nimmo-Smith

Charles Bailey
APPLICANT Lord Kerry Hamer
SITE Chambers Place Goring Road near Woodcote, RG8 

7SJ
PROPOSAL Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) of Planning 

Permission P16/S3646/FUL

Proposed demolition of existing barns and stables 
and erection of two detached dwellinghouses with 
associated parking and amenity space provision.

OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the District Council’s Planning Committee as the 

officer’s recommendation of approval conflicts with the views of Woodcote Parish 
Council.

1.2 The application relates to an area of land (shown at Appendix A) measuring 
approximately 0.8ha within the grounds of Chambers Place, a residential property on 
the southern approach to Woodcote. The site currently accommodates a range of 
disused equestrian barns, stables and other buildings on land associated with the 
main dwelling. The access to the land is via a private driveway leading from the B471, 
although there is also an existing field access to the south-west. The site is mostly 
bordered by open agricultural land. In 2012, planning permission for the erection of 
four dwellings was refused within a plot immediately to the north-east of Chambers 
Place, primarily on the basis of visual impact. Further to the north, there is a largely 
contiguous line of ribbon housing development.

1.3 Planning permission was granted in July 2017 for a redevelopment proposal within the 
site. This comprised the demolition of a range of agricultural and equestrian structures 
to the south of Chambers Place and their replacement with two detached dwellings. 
Planning permission was granted by the planning committee on the basis that the 
existing buildings were demonstrated to be capable of residential conversion as a 
‘fallback’ position, and that their replacements would respond appropriately to the 
strong agricultural form and character of the existing structures. There would also be 
demonstrable improvements to the appearance of the land, to the benefit of the wider
AONB. That scheme would utilise the existing access from Chambers Place. This 
consent does not expire until 2020. 

1.4 The approved plans accompanying the approved scheme are attached at Appendix 
B.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, consent is sought for amendments to the 

approved scheme, in order to allow for changes to the scale and design of the 

Page 83

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2940/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

approved dwellings, the erection of detached carports and the provision of a new 
access arrangement directly onto the B471, utilising the existing field access point.

2.2 A copy of the proposed plans is attached as Appendix C and other documentation 
associated with the application can be accessed via the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Woodcote Parish Council – Objection

 The application does not address any of the Parish Council’s objections to the 
previous approved scheme

 The site evaluation process for the new emerging Woodcote Neighbourhood 
Plan has not been completed

 Woodcote is within the AONB and this site is outside the built-up area of the 
village.  The density, at 2 homes per 0.75 hectare is inefficient use of land

 This site does not qualify as ‘infill’
 The new access via the existing gate may be onto a road subject to 30mph. 

However, cars frequently exceed the speed limit.
 The site is at the extreme edge of the parish and the revised access is further 

from key services and facilities, with no footpath.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objection, subject to 
condition

Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No objection, subject to tree 
proection measures being implemented as proposed and suitable landscaping details 
to be agreed

No neighbour comments were received.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S3646/FUL - Approved (07/07/2017)

Proposed demolition of existing barns and stables and erection of two detached 
dwellinghouses with associated parking and amenity space provision (access 
improvements shown on revised site plan received 16 December 2016; additional 
structural report received 6 March 2017; reduction in scale of proposed dwellings 
shown on submitted plans accompanying agent email dated 28th April 2017.)

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies 

CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSQ3  -  Design

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies;

C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users

Page 84

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3646/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Woodcote Neighbourhood Plan (WNP) policies;

H10 – Infill Housing in the AONB
T1 – Traffic Congestion
T7 - Pedestrian Footways
T8 - Residential Car Parking Spaces

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues in this application are as follows:

1. The principle of the development
2. The impact of the scale and design upon the character of the site, the street 

scene and the wider AONB
3. The ecological and environmental impact
4. The impact upon the local highway network

Principle of redevelopment

6.2 Notwithstanding the Parish Council’s objection, which largely reiterates their previous 
concerns, the principle of the redevelopment of the site was established under the 
extant approved scheme. The same material planning considerations accepted 
previously would still apply and there would still be benefits associated with the removal 
of the cluster of disused equestrian buildings and storage containers within the site. 
The acceptability of the proposed variations to the approved plans is largely contingent 
upon the scheme continuing to respond positively to the defining characteristics of the 
site and the wider context. 

Scale and design  

6.3 This proposal follows detailed pre-application discussions in which officers discussed a 
range of possible amendments to the approved plans. No objection in principle was 
raised to the provision of a secondary access or appropriately sited low-key ancillary 
garage buildings. Officers also considered that the council could support modest 
increases in the total size of the two permitted dwellings, if their simple agricultural form 
and character were to be retained. It is considered essential that the bespoke design of 
the new dwellings would still have a rural vernacular feel and, in addition, that their 
massing would still incorporate a combination of single and 1.5/2 storey elements.

6.4 The submitted planning statement details the changes which have been made in 
response to the pre-application discussions. Officers are satisfied that the current 
application has responded appropriately to the issues raised and it is noted that the 
Parish Council do not raise specific objection to any aspect of the revised designs.

6.5 The dwellings now proposed would be similarly orientated to the approved scheme and 
the increase to the gross internal floor area would not be excessive. The supporting 
statement claims that that the combined increase would equate to 22.8 sq.m. 

Page 85



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

Furthermore, the overall height, ranging from approximately 5 - 7.3m at the highest 
point, would be relatively low in comparison to the line of dwellings further to the north 
of the site.  

6.6 In terms of the revised visual design, the buildings would continue to have staggered 
ridge lines, breaking up the bulk and massing within views from public vantage points. 
The roof pitches, external materials and simple fenestration detail would broadly accord 
with the rural surroundings and arguably meet the key design criteria within the 
supplementary Chilterns Buildings Design Guide. Furthermore, the garages now 
proposed would be sited close to the main dwellings and they would have simple, 
functional forms consistent with the council’s adopted design guidance. 

6.7 There would be some impacts associated with the relocation of the approved site 
access point. Although there is an existing field access in this location, the works 
needed to provide adequate visibility splays onto the B471 will undoubtedly increase 
public visibility of the proposed development.  However, the redevelopment of the site 
would continue to provide tangible landscape benefits and, with an appropriate planting 
scheme softening the appearance of the dwellings, officers are satisfied that there 
would not be material harm to the openness and rural character of the wider AONB.

Ecology and environment

6.8 Under the previous scheme, the Council’s Countryside Team raised no objection, 
subject to the development being implemented in accordance with the scheme of 
mitigation and enhancement, as stated in section 7 of the supporting Bat Assessment 
and Bat Mitigation Strategy (Ecosupport Ltd, 21/10/2016). The condition would not be 
varied by this application. 

6.9 The council’s forestry officer raises no objection to the current proposal, subject to 
further agreement over the landscaping measures within the site, particularly details 
over the planting shown indicatively within the proposed site layout. Officers agree that 
it is appropriate to add an additional condition to this effect and the agent is in 
agreement with this.   

Highways

6.10 Whilst the sustainability points raised by the Parish Council are noted, the changes to 
the scale of the approved scheme are minimal and the new access point would only be 
around 60m further away from the village centre. The reduction in the level of 
accessibility to key services and facilities as a result of the amendment would be 
negligible. 

6.11 The proposal can continue to provide adequate parking provision in accordance with 
the higher requirements set out under Policy T8 of the WNP. The Local Highways 
Authority raise no objection to the change of the use of the existing field access for 
domestic purposes, provided that adequate visibility splays are maintained. Officers 
have no reason to disagree with the expert advice provided.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers are satisfied that the variations to the approved redevelopment scheme would 

continue to be sympathetic to the defining agricultural character of the site and its 
setting within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Viewed in conjunction 
with the general improvements to the appearance of the land, the scheme broadly 
complies with the principles of sustainable development set out within the National 

Page 86



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 28 November 2018

Planning Policy Framework and there are no overriding highway, ecological or 
environmental issues.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:

1. The development must be begun not later than 20th July 2020.
2. Approved plans.
3. Prior to the commencement, a schedule of all materials to be used in the 

external construction and finishes of the development shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA).

4. Removal of permitted development rights - No extensions or outbuildings 
as described in Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A, B and E.

5. Prior to the first occupation of the development, the existing means of 
access onto Goring Road shall be improved and laid out and constructed 
strictly in accordance with the local highway authority's specifications and 
all ancillary works specified shall be undertaken.

6. Prior to the first occupation of the development, the parking and turning 
areas shall be provided in accordance with drawing no. 17189-PP0010, 
and shall be constructed, laid out, surfaced, drained and completed to be 
compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles, and shall be 
retained unobstructed except for the parking of vehicles associated with 
the development at all times.

7. The vision splays shown on drawing no. 17189-PP0010, shall not be 
obstructed by any object, structure, planting or other material with a 
height exceeding or growing above 0.9 metres as measured from 
carriageway level.

8. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the scheme of 
mitigation and enhancement, as stated in section 7 of the supporting Bat 
Assessment and Bat Mitigation Strategy (Ecosupport Ltd,21/10/2016). Any 
variation shall be agreed in writing by the LPA.

9. Prior to the commencement of the development a phased contaminated 
land risk assessment shall be carried out. Each phase shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

10. The tree protection details as described within the submitted tree report 
and plans (Venners Arboriculture, August 2018) shall be put in place prior 
to any on site works including demolition and thereafter retained in situ 
for the duration of development.

11. Prior to the commencement of the development, a scheme for the 
landscaping of the site, including the planting of live trees and shrubs, the 
treatment of the access road and hard standings, and the provision of 
boundary treatment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
LPA.  

Author: Simon Kitson
Email:   Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:       01235 422600

 

Page 87

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 89

Agenda Item 11



Appendix B

P
age 90



P
age 91



P
age 92



Plot 2

Plot 1

Chambers 
Place

indicative new trees/shrubbery 
to provide screening  

43
00

0

43
00

0

2400

0 30

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:500  @  A1

SITE PLAN

07/08/18 EM

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
CHAMBERS PLACE, GORING HEATH

LORD & LADY HAMER

17189 - PP0010 -

PLANNING

Appendix C

P
age 93



rwp

rwp rwp

CARPORT GARAGE

rwp

0 3

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,    OX33  
1LZ01865 873936 info@andersonorr.co

m
www.andersonorr.com

1:50   @   
A1

GARAGE/CARPORT

08/08/18 EM

CHAMBERS PLACE, WOODCOTE

LORD & LADY HAMER

17189 - PE0011 -

PLANNING

FLOOR PLAN - GARAGE

ROOF PLAN - GARAGE EAST ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATIONNORTH ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION

P
age 94



24
00

24
00

Upper 
Ground Floor

Eaves

Ground Floor

24
00

Upper 
Ground Floor

24
00

17
50

Ground Floor

First Floor

17
50

24
00 24

00

Ground Floor

First Floor

Upper Ground 
Floor

30
0Ground Floor

17
50

24
00

Ground Floor

First Floor

24
00

Ground Floor

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,    OX33  
1LZ01865 873936 info@andersonorr.co

m
www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  
A2

PLOT 1 - ELEVATIONS

07/18/18 EM

CHAMBERS PLACE, WOODCOTE

LORD & LADY HAMER

17189 - PE1010 -

PLANNING

SOUTH EAST ELEVATION

NORTH EAST ELEVATION

SOUTH WEST ELEVATION

NORTH WEST ELEVATION

Page 95



24
00

12
50

Ground Floor

First Floor

24
00

12
50

Ground Floor

First Floor

24
00

24
00

12
50

Ground Floor

First Floor

Lower 
Ground Floor

24
00

24
00

12
50

Ground Floor

First Floor

Lower 
Ground Floor 30

0

24
00

12
50

30
0

24
00

12
50

Ground Floor

First Floor

First Floor 
Eaves

Ground Floor

First Floor

First Floor 
Eaves

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,    OX33  
1LZ01865 873936 info@andersonorr.co

m
www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  
A2

PLOT 2 - ELEVATIONS

01/08/18 EM

CHAMBERS PLACE, WOODCOTE

LORD & LADY HAMER

17189 - PE2010 -

PLANNING

SOUTH EAST ELEVATION

NORTH EAST ELEVATION

SOUTH WEST ELEVATION

NORTH WEST ELEVATION

Page 96



UP

UP

guest bed

study

guest en suite

a/c

cup'd

hall

living room

kitchen

dining

snug

utility/boot

cloak

landing

bathroom

master bed en suite

bed 2

dressing

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,    OX33  
1LZ01865 873936 info@andersonorr.co

m
www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  
A2

PLOT 1 - FLOOR PLANS

07/08/18 EM

CHAMBERS PLACE, WOODCOTE

LORD & LADY HAMER

17189 - PP1030 -

PLANNING

GROUND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR

Page 97



UP

UP

living room

guest bed

utility/boot

en suite

cloak

hall

kitchen

snugdining

study

vaulted 
ceiling 

master bed

en suite

bathroom

bed 2

gallery landing
void

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,    OX33  
1LZ01865 873936 info@andersonorr.co

m
www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  
A2

PLOT 2 - FLOOR PLANS

06/08/18 EM

CHAMBERS PLACE, WOODCOTE

LORD & LADY HAMER

17189 - PP2030 -

PLANNING

GROUND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR

Page 98



red line denotes previously 
approved planning 
application

Chambers Place

road plot 2 chambers place plot 1

0 10

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:200  @  A1

SITE SECTION

09/08/18 EM

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT,
CHAMBERS PLACE, GORING HEATH

Lord & Lady Hamer

17189 - PS0010 -

PLANNING

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 P17/S4254/O - Oxford Brookes University, Waterperry Road, Holton, OX33 1HX
	P17/S4254/O - Oxford Brookes University, Waterperry Road, Holton - Appendices
	1 Site Location Plan
	2 Illustrative Layout
	3 Visuals
	4 Building Heights Parameters Plan
	5 Highways works


	8 P18/S1729/FUL - 180 and 182 Fane Drive, Berinsfield, OX10 7QA
	P18/S1729/FUL - 180 and 182 Fane Drive, Berinsfield - Appendices
	1 4c1055cdd832468db699f2409df5f56c (1)
	2 Site Location Plan & Block Plan drwgno A.101 Rev A
	Sheets
	A107 - GFL


	Elevations Existing & Proposed drwgno A.103
	Sheets
	A107 - GFL


	Floor Plans Existing & Proposed drwgno A.102 Rev A
	Sheets
	A107 - GFL




	9 P18/S2866/FUL - 27 Benson Lane, Crowmarsh Gifford, OX10 8ED
	P18/S2866/FUL - 27 Benson Lane, Crowmarsh Gifford - Appendices
	1 4c1055cdd832468db699f2409df5f56c
	Block Plan drwgno 010
	Elevation Plan North East Proposed drwgno PE002
	Elevation Plan North West Proposed drwgno PE004
	Elevation Plan South East Proposed drwgno PE001
	Elevation Plan South West Proposed drwgno PE003
	Floor Plan First Proposed drwgno PF002
	Floor Plan Ground Proposed drwgno PF001


	10 P18/S1500/O - Marigay, Russells Water, RG9 6EU
	P18/S1500/O - Marigay, Russells Water - Appendices
	1 Appendix A
	Composite Proposed drwgno 018.04.1 Rev A
	Elevation 3D Visualisation Proposed drwgno PE001
	South Cross Section drwgno AA
	West Cross Section drwgno Cross Section A


	11 P18/S2940/FUL - Chambers Place, Goring Road, near Woodcote, RG8 7SJ
	P18/S2940/FUL - Chambers Place, Goring Road, near Woodcote - Appendices
	1 Appendix A
	2 Site Plan & Location Plan drwgno  16 395 03 B
	2a Composite Plan Plot 1 Proposed Dwg 16-395-01 B
	2b Composite Plan Plot 2 Proposed Dwg 16-395-02 B
	Block Plan drwgno PP0010
	Sheets
	PP0010 - SITE PLAN


	Elevations and  Roof and Floor Plans Garage drwgno PE0011
	Sheets
	PE0011 - GARAGE/CARPORT


	Elevations Plot 1 Proposed drwgno PE1010
	Sheets
	PE1010 - PLOT 1 - ELEVATIONS


	Elevations Plot 2 Proposed drwgno PE2010
	Sheets
	PE2010 - PLOT 2 - ELEVATIONS


	Floor Plans Plot 1 Proposed drwgno PP1030
	Sheets
	PP1030 - PLOT 1 - FLOOR PLANS


	Floor Plans Plot 2 Proposed drwgno  PP2030
	Sheets
	PP2030 - PLOT 2 - FLOOR PLANS


	Street Scene drwgno PS0010
	Sheets
	PS0010 - SITE SECTION







